Reimagining School Safety Without Resource Officers:

Discussing Alternative Programs and Practices



(Jones, 2018)

Tara Bartlett^{1, 2}, Lara Law², Daniel Schugurensky^{1, 2}, Marisol Díaz², and Wendy Wolfersteig²

¹Participatory Governance Institute & ²Southwest Interdisciplinary Research Center

Arizona State University

September 2021

Acknowledgments

This report was funded in part by Phoenix Union High School District. We wish to thank

Phoenix Union High School District and the Participatory Budgeting Project for their

collaboration on the production of this report. We also want to thank Emily Nunez-Eddy and

Lauren Tackett for their insightful feedback on early drafts.

Table of Contents

Abstract	1
Introduction	2
School Safety and SROs	3
Methodology	5
Beyond SROs: 17 Alternative Programs to Promote School Safety	7
Punitive Approaches	8
Surveillance Strategies	8
Zero Tolerance	11
Social Psychological Approaches	14
Positive Behavior Interventions and Supports (PBIS)	14
Social Emotional Learning	16
Instructional Interventions and Youth Development Programs	17
Trauma-informed Schools	18
Mindfulness Programs	20
Mental Health Support	21
Community-based Approaches	22
Community Schools	23
Parent and Family Engagement	24
Inclusive Policies and Practices	26
Anti-bullying	28
Self-governance Approaches	30
Democratic Schools	31
Peace Education and Conflict Resolution	32
Restorative Practices	34
Peer Mediation	35
School-Based Teen Courts	36
Concluding Remarks	37

Abstract

Prior research indicates that school safety approaches emphasizing the presence of school resource officers (SROs) on campus are not very effective in making schools safer and are often associated with negative outcomes, including lower academic performance and higher levels of school violence, dropout rates, antisocial behavior, and interactions with the criminal justice system. Such approaches disproportionately affect historically marginalized students (racially and ethnically minoritized students, students with disabilities, LGBTQ+ students, and students of low socioeconomic status). In this context, some school districts are exploring school safety alternatives to SROs. For this study, we undertook a comprehensive review of those alternatives and the recent research literature on their impacts, particularly on school safety and students' wellbeing, paying special attention to meta-analyses and studies that used randomized controlled trials. We identified 17 promising programs and organized them in four approaches (punitive, social psychological, community-based, and self-governance) and three levels of intervention (universal, intensive, and targeted). While not entirely comprehensive, this review provides school leaders, researchers, and community members with research findings on 17 promising school safety alternatives to promote a healthy and equitable school climate, reduce violence and trauma, and maintain a safe learning environment for all students.

Keywords: school safety, school resource officers, police in schools, school to prison pipeline, school violence prevention

Reimagining School Safety Without Resource Officers: Discussing Alternative Programs and Practices

Introduction

In the summer of 2020, the Phoenix Union High School District decided not to renew its contract with the local police department to hire school resource officers (SROs) and instead reallocate those funds to a participatory budgeting process in which the school community (staff, students, and parents) would recommend policies, programs, and initiatives to promote school safety. This is not an isolated case. Since the killing of George Floyd in May 2020, over 30 U.S. states have passed more than 140 new police oversight and reform laws, and several school districts (from Seattle and Portland to Oakland, Los Angeles, and Minneapolis) voted to gradually remove police from their schools (Eder et al., 2021). These events represent the most recent expression of a long process towards community involvement in safety programs that had a pivotal moment in the Cincinnati Collaborative Agreement two decades ago. This agreement had three distinct features, it: framed policing as an exercise in cooperative problem-solving; put the community at the center of the diagnosis, design, and implementation of public safety programs; and enabled the community to identify problems and propose solutions (Hood, 2020).

Another significant moment occurred in 2015 after the killing of Michael Brown in Ferguson when President Obama's task force on policing generated 59 recommendations with 92 action items. Among them, three were particularly relevant to schools. The first was a recommendation to review school policies and practices and advocate for early intervention strategies that minimize the involvement of youth in the criminal justice system. The second was a call to collect data to monitor the use of school disciplinary practices (detentions and expulsions), including demographic data on students and the nature of the offenses to develop

more developmentally appropriate strategies for youth. The third, which is the launching point for our paper, was to review the use of SROs and examine policies to ensure that their presence was not increasing the school-to-prison pipeline but providing effective alternatives to incarceration through constructive interventions (Office of Community Oriented Policing Services, 2015). In this historical context and animated by the intention of assisting schools and school districts seeking effective alternatives to SROs, we undertook a comprehensive literature review with two goals in mind. The first was to identify the most common and/or promising initiatives and programs to promote school safety that do not require the physical presence of SROs. The second was to examine prior research findings on the effectiveness of these practices to promote a healthy and equitable school climate, reduce violence and maintain safety. We hope that the analysis of the 17 programs and initiatives discussed in this paper provides valuable input to current community deliberations on school safety.

School Safety and SROs

School safety has been a long-standing topic of conversation in the educational community. As schools are expected to reopen after an unforeseen period of online learning, the effectiveness of SROs is at the epicenter of current debates. SROs are sworn law enforcement officers assigned to a school or a group of schools during the school year with authority to enforce the penal code, carry firearms, engage in searches of students and their possessions, enforce school dress codes, and enforce arrest or removal from school property without parent consent. Since the first programs in the 1950s, SROs expanded their school presence decade after decade, and by 2018 over two-thirds of high school students in the U.S. had an SRO on their campus. Moreover, because SROs often fulfill different and multiple titles within schools, including emergency responder, mentor, teacher, and law enforcement officer, their role is often not usually clearly defined. Likewise, the reported numbers of SROs on campus may be lower

than the true number of officers in schools considering hired private security guards and neighborhood patrol officers also operating as SROs without formal agreements and training on how to handle student discipline and crises (Henning, 2021).

While the literature on the topic reveals some disagreement, most of the empirical research on the impact of SROs shows that they do not improve school safety or school climate, and that in many cases they have harmful effects, especially for students of color and students with disabilities. These students are more likely to be disciplined for committing minor offenses and more likely to experience exclusionary discipline as well as measures like removals, arrests, suspensions, and expulsions that have long-term consequences and contribute to reinforcing the school-to-prison nexus. SROs enjoy a high level of authority and discretion to sanction students, but their lack of sufficient or adequate training often results in disproportionate contact with the justice system and an unnecessary escalation of conflicts. Prior studies have not found evidence that the presence of SROs prevents mass shootings, bullying, disorder, and disrespect, but found that students with more frequent interactions with SROs feel less connected and supported in their schools (Anderson, 2006; Brady et al., 2007; Crawford & Bodine, 2001; Devlin & Fisher, 2021; Donnell, 2016; Fisher & Hennessy, 2016; Gonzalez et al., 2016; James & McCallion, 2013; Javdani, 2019; Jones et al., 2018a; Kupchik, 2020; Marchbanks et al., 2018; Na & Gottfredson, 2013; Pentek & Eisenberg, 2018; Shedd, 2016; Theriot, 2016; Theriot & Orme, 2016; Tillyer et al., 2011; Warnick & Kapa, 2019; Weisburst, 2018; Zhang, 2018).

Since a positive and safe school climate is essential to promoting students' learning, achievement, and engagement, many school districts are revisiting the presence of SROs and are exploring alternative programs that emphasize prevention over punishment and are more pedagogically informed, inclusive, and cost-effective (Cowan et al., 2021; Leticia, 2020; Loukas,

2007). In other words, school districts are asking: what are the most effective ways to invest limited resources to promote health and safety for all students? Recognizing that school safety is a \$2.7 billion dollar industry, school districts have a renewed opportunity to rethink the status quo and make important decisions to support students. Indeed, reimagining school safety implies reconsidering school budgets.

In exploring this issue, it is pertinent to note that school safety is a complex, multilayered concept that includes the physical, social, and emotional welfare of all members of the school community. It can refer to objective measures such as incidences of harassment, bullying, violence, and substance use in schools or to subjective variables such as the feeling of protection that people experience when they are in a place that is free of danger (American Institutes for Research, 2021; Díaz-Vicario & Gairín Sallán, 2017). School safety encompasses both the freedom *from* bodily infringement or harm and the freedom *for* physical, emotional, and social safety, i.e., the creation and upkeep of spaces where *all* students can be "authentically themselves" (Arizona Department of Education, 2020). This approach recognizes the bias that has permeated and resulted from many of the still widely practiced school safety approaches and seeks to identify equitable practices.

Methodology

In this umbrella study we examined school safety alternatives to SROs by exploring two questions: a) What are the most common and/or promising alternatives to SROs to promote school safety? and b) What do we know so far about the effectiveness of those alternatives? To answer these questions, we undertook a three-prong approach. In the first step, we conducted a comprehensive search of articles, books, and reports published in the last two decades on the topic of school safety alternatives to SROs to identify the most relevant programs and initiatives. In this

phase, we identified 17 programs. The second step consisted of a search of empirical studies on those 17 alternative programs, with special attention to research findings on their effectiveness in promoting a healthy and equitable school climate, reducing violence, and maintaining safety. In addition to journal articles and books, the literature search included governmental and organizational reports and recent news articles. The search was conducted using databases available through Arizona State University's library search engine, including ERIC, SAGE, JSTOR, Social Services Abstracts, Sociological Abstracts, PsycInfo, and Family and Society Studies Worldwide. Articles that did not present research-based evidence of effectiveness or had no direct connection to school safety measures were excluded from the search. In the third stage, we analyzed the research findings, examined the research evidence on the effectiveness of those programs, and produced a report for each one. Then, we grouped the programs into four broad approaches: a) punitive; b) social psychological; c) community-based; and d) self-governance.

In terms of scope, we built on previous conceptual models (e.g., Cowan et al., 2013; Horner et al., 2010) by identifying three methods of program application: universal, targeted, and intensive. Universal programs seek to impact the whole school community by improving safety and preventing violence. These programs deal with several aspects of the school environment, including disciplinary procedures, curriculum, and nonacademic skills (American Psychological Association Zero Tolerance Task Force, 2008; Gottfredson, 2001; Payne et al., 2003; Welsh, 2000). Targeted interventions focus on sub-populations of youth needing extra support, preventative strategies, and guidance due to being more likely to experience victimization and/or acts of aggression (Astor et al., 2010; Brown et al., 2020; Rahey & Craig, 2002). These programs nurture behaviors through knowledge, skills, and dispositions and employing social and instructional interventions to deter violent or risky behaviors (Afkinich & Klumpner, 2018; Hahn

et al., 2007). Intensive interventions are customized for high need students and focus on youth who have been involved in an incident of harm and/or need serious, significant support and guidance (Wehby & Kern, 2014).

Beyond SROs: 17 Alternative Programs to Promote School Safety

Among the 17 alternative programs identified, 9 are more likely to be universal, 4 targeted and 4 intensive (see Table 1). In schools' day-to-day reality, however, there are significant overlaps as some programs may belong to more than one category, and some programs may be implemented at different levels, sometimes involving only a few students, a large group, the entire student body, and occasionally the entire educational community. Likewise, while most alternative programs identified tend to follow a wellbeing-based approach, punitive interventions are more ubiquitous, particularly in low-income communities.

Table 1.School Safety: Approaches and Programs (U: universal; T: targeted; I: intensive)

Approaches	Programs	Scope
Punitive	1. Surveillance	U
	2. Zero tolerance	U
Social psychological	3. PBIS	U
	4. Social Emotional Learning (SEL)	T
	5. Instructional programs for youth development	T
	6. Trauma-informed programs	U
	7. Mindfulness	T
	8. Mental health support	I
Community-based	9. Community schools	U
-	10. Parent & family engagement	U
	11. Inclusive policies and practices	U
	12. Anti-bullying	T
Self-governance	13. Democratic schools	U
	14. Peace education and conflict resolution	U
	15. Restorative justice	I
	16. Peer mediation	I
	17. School-based teen courts	I

Punitive Approaches

Punitive approaches to school safety seek to monitor students and potential threats and deter unwanted behavior and violence in schools using punishment. Grounded in the concept of retributive justice, the aim of these practices is to punish the rule breakers proportionally to their wrongdoing. The two main interventions schools utilize are surveillance strategies and zero tolerance. Although these practices are used extensively, research does not support their effectiveness. Indeed, in a literature review that included 72 publications, Jean-Pierre and Parris (2018) found a growing consensus that punitive approaches are counter-productive and detrimental; they also found increasing evidence that alternative school discipline approaches are more effective in fostering a healthier school climate and the academic achievement of marginalized students (see also Salole & Abdulle, 2015; Simmons, 2009; Strelan et al., 2011).

Surveillance Strategies

Pervasive in U.S. schools, these strategies seek to deter unwanted behavior using technologies and data-sharing including surveillance monitoring, emergency alert systems, shared communications systems, and identification measures. As of the 2016 school year, 94% of



U.S. schools reported having controlled access to buildings, 81% using security cameras, and 68% requiring school personnel to wear badges (Musu-Gillette et al., 2018). In some schools, traditional search and seizure activities like locker and backpack checks, body and car searches, and military style "SWAT team" rehearsals have given way to technologies such as airport-style scanners and metal detectors (Beger, 2002; Casella, 2006; Gastic, 2011; Ma, 2018; Mowen &

Freng, 2019; Musu-Gillette et al., 2018; Robers et al., 2014; Schildkraut & Grogan, 2019; Schwartz et al., 2016).

Surveillance measures use a variety of technologies to secure school environments, including constant observation and monitoring. These measures exist in two forms: deterrence and response (Hatten, 2018; Xaba, 2014). Deterrence measures focus on preventing and disincentivizing threats and violence within the school setting and can be observed in the form of fences and gates systems surrounding campus perimeters, bulletproof glass in place of windowpanes, metal detectors and scanners, keyless door locks and area accesses limited through passcodes and security badges, panic button alerts, and video camera systems (Casella, 2006; Musu-Gillette et al., 2018; Partner Alliance for Safer Schools, 2020; Perumean-Chaney & Sutton, 2013). Many schools have dedicated efforts behind deterrence campaigns such as tip lines and other anonymous reporting measures (Planty et al., 2020; Schwartz et al., 2016). Additional monitoring is often conducted online, with school officials shadowing social media accounts, school sponsored emails, and other forms of communication (Schwartz et al., 2016). More recent deterrence measures involve monitoring biometrics like facial recognition and geolocation tracking systems (LoSardo, 2020; Tucker & Vance, 2016). In comparison, response measures are often enacted as a reactionary intervention to a crisis and tend to focus on timely elimination of threats and the provision of crisis support (Bohnenkamp et al., 2021; Hull, 2011). A number of schools participate in datacasting systems with local law enforcement and medical support teams sharing student information, campus layouts, and school building floor plans (Sanchez, 2003; Schwartz et al., 2016). Additionally, some schools are equipped with multimedia operability and access to radio communications and databases shared with law enforcement.



While the technological triangulation of deterrence measures, response measures, and the post-threat dependency on local law enforcement officials has become more commonplace in the school safety movement, no conclusive evidence exists on whether reliance

on technologies and cross-data systems accessibility increases school safety (Kupchik, 2016; Schwartz et al., 2016; Tanner-Smith et al., 2018). Instead, recommendations to utilize technologies exist within a multilayered approach to school safety (DeVos et al., 2018; Partner Alliance for Safer Schools, 2020). Research has shown that overreliance on school safety technologies can lead to unintended consequences. Despite the intention of these measures to increase perceptions of safety and decrease incidents of violence at schools, including attacks and fights, altering or "target hardening" the school's physical structure has instead become associated with increased incidents of school violence. Indeed, some studies have documented higher discipline rates, including arrests among historically marginalized students, and lower levels of student extracurricular participation (Cuellar, 2018; Fisher et al., 2018; Mowen & Manierre, 2017; Theriot, 2009).

Other studies have documented a relationship between these measures and reduced levels of some forms of parental involvement (Dunning-Lozano, 2018; Mowen, 2015; Mowen & Manierre, 2017). Recent research has also shown that the usage of technological tools for school safety has either a negative or no effect on students' perceptions of their school's safety (Tanner-

Smith et al., 2018; Turanovic et al., 2019). Several studies have reported that the panopticon-like presence and use of metal detectors, security cameras, and other visible preventative security measures have a negative impact on students' perceptions of safety in their school environment (Bachman et al., 2011; Bracy, 2011; Gastic, 2011; Johnson et al., 2018; Perumean-Chaney & Sutton, 2013). Further, the increasing use of technologies in the name of school safety has raised issues of student privacy and equity consequences (LoSardo, 2020; Tucker & Vance, 2016).

Zero Tolerance

Zero tolerance policies, also known as exclusionary school discipline measures, outline predetermined consequences, often severe and punitive in nature, intended to be applied regardless of the gravity of behavior, mitigating circumstances, or situational context (American Psychological Association Zero Tolerance Task Force, 2008). These retributive consequences include mandatory suspensions, expulsions, and referrals to the justice system for school-based offenses (Heitzeg, 2009). The origins of zero tolerance policies stem from the U.S. government's War on Drugs and the "broken windows" theory, which has been challenged by empirical research (Harcourt, 2009; O'Brien et al., 2019). The term "zero tolerance" was first used within a school setting in 1989 to describe a no-nonsense, prescriptive response to drugs, fighting, and gang related activities taking place on school campuses (Lombardo & Lough, 2007; Skiba & Rausch, 2006). By the mid-1990s, almost every U.S. state had adopted zero tolerance policies within K-12 school systems, in part due to the 1994 Gun Free Schools Act that tied federal funding for schools to whether zero tolerance policies were being implemented (Skiba & Peterson, 1999). Zero tolerance policies quickly expanded beyond concerns about drugs, fighting, and gangs with new descriptors like "disruption" or "disrespect" being used to disproportionately punish students for a wide range of minor disciplinary concerns, including the

wearing of hats, possession of aspirin and cough drops, or incomplete homework (Skiba, 2010, 2014).

While both in- and out-of-school suspensions are usually assigned for incidents like fighting or drugs, under zero tolerance policies, suspensions have been assigned to milder infractions like swearing or disrespect. Expulsions have now become the

result of fighting, substance abuse



infractions (even for the first time), and threats (Dupper, 2010). Although zero tolerance policies are framed as an equalizing approach to school discipline, decades long patterns of racial and socioeconomic inequalities in schools point to inherent bias and subjectivity in how zero tolerance suspensions and expulsions are assigned, enforced, and referred to law enforcement (American Psychological Association Zero Tolerance Task Force, 2008; Heitzeg, 2014; Skiba, 2014; Skiba et al., 2002). One of the main impacts of zero tolerance policies is the school to prison pipeline construct, also known as the pathway from the schoolhouse to the jailhouse, that has laid bare the discriminatory treatment of historically marginalized and minoritized students (especially African American, Native American, and Hispanic students) and students with disabilities. Indeed, African American, Native American, and Hispanic students and students with disabilities are often suspended and expelled from schools at higher rates than their peers, thus resulting in higher push out (drop out) rates and referrals to juvenile justice (Darling-

Hammond, 2007; Losen & Gillespie, 2012; National Association for the Advancement of Colored People [NAACP], 2018; Novak, 2019; Skiba et al., 2002).

The inequitable use of exclusionary school disciplinary practices widens the achievement gap between students of color and students with disabilities, on the one hand, and White students on the other (Gregory et al., 2010). A meta-analysis that involved approximately 85% of all students enrolled in U.S. public schools found disparate suspension rates among racial groups and students with disabilities: 1 of every 4 Black students with disabilities was suspended at least once during the 2009-2010 academic school year, while for White students with disabilities the rate was 1 in about 10 (Losen & Gillespie, 2012). In effect, zero tolerance policies act as exclusionary practices and have been found to be intentionally used to increase a school's overall tests scores and public ratings by removing students viewed as problematic (Hirschfield, 2008; Na & Gottfredson, 2013). Other studies of zero tolerance policies report that these strict measures only provide schools with short-term relief in dealing with disciplinary concerns, and that by failing to address underlying concerns, these policies set forth subsequent risks for poor student behavior (Shaw, 2004). Furthermore, it has been argued that zero tolerance policies transfer the responsibility to provide behavior supports and the associated costs unto other sectors like the incarceration system and health and social services, effectively "rob[bing] youths of their right to a public education" (Skiba, 2000). Zero tolerance policies may be defensible when the rules and the consequences are communicated effectively to the school community, when strict punishment is used sparingly and equitably, and when these practices are part of a comprehensive anti-violence system (Bickmore, 2011). Still, these three conditions are seldom present simultaneously in the real world of schools. In sum, zero tolerance policies in combination with the other exacerbating factors such as cultural biases and school accountability

measures, lay the groundwork in removing students from school through disciplinary punishments of suspension and expulsion, wherein students are pushed into dropping out, or depending on the disciplinary infraction, are charged in the court system, and funneled into the prison pipeline.

Social Psychological Approaches

Social psychological approaches to school safety aim to address a myriad of student needs through social and instructional interventions to deter violent or risky behaviors. Many school violence prevention programs draw on social psychological approaches, emphasizing social skills, behavioral management, school climate, and positive youth development (Astor et al., 2010). Of the school safety alternatives we found, Positive Behavior Interventions and Supports (PBIS), Social Emotional Learning (SEL), instructional programs for youth development, trauma-informed programs, mindfulness programs, and mental health supports were some of the most common social psychological approaches. These programs focus on shaping or changing student behaviors through imparting knowledge and skills and fostering healthy dispositions. While social psychological approaches often exist as optimized school-wide safety programs, they can also be found as stand-alone models or in unique combinations with other school safety programs.

Positive Behavior Interventions and Supports (PBIS)

Positive Behavior Interventions and Supports (PBIS) is a data-driven support system that relies on both social and academic interventions to address and guide student behaviors and outcomes (Alter, 2018; Lewis & Sugai, 1999). Having first appeared in the 1997 reauthorization of the U.S. Individuals with Disabilities Education Act, PBIS draws from behavioral psychology, social learning, and organizational design research with a focus on students with emotional and behavioral disorders (Gresham, 1991; Sugai & Horner, 1999). PBIS implements a variety of

evidence-based tiered interventions to enhance academic and behavioral outcomes for all students (Sugai et al., 2000). Tier one focuses on universal prevention of unwanted behaviors with an emphasis on social skills. Tier two consists of a targeted prevention approach for students who need extra support systems to address behavior and positive reinforcement. Tier three is an individualized, intensive program structure with wrap-around supports of a cross disciplinary support network (Horner et al., 2010). The PBIS framework relies on centering student outcomes within school-wide support systems and draws on a continuum of best practices for collecting and using data and teacher professional development.

The research literature considers PBIS as a promising practice to address issues related to school climate, student discipline, and bullying. Prior studies have found that PBIS reduces office discipline referrals for violent and general offenses, out-of-school suspensions, and teacher-reported bullying in elementary and middle schools (Bradshaw, 2013; Sprague et al., 2007; Waasdorp et al., 2012; Warren et al. 2006). Moreover, a recent meta-analysis of twenty-nine studies found that PBIS resulted in statistically significant reductions in student discipline and improvements in academic achievement (Lee & Gage, 2020). There is relatively less research available on the impact of PBIS in high schools, but some studies have found that it decreases student office discipline referrals and increases attendance (Flannery et al., 2014; Freeman et al., 2015; Freeman et al., 2016). Moreover, these two outcomes are associated with reductions in drop-out rates (Center on PBIS, 2021). Although high schools have been adopting this approach at a slower rate than elementary and middle schools, a recent systematic review of sixteen studies found that student outcomes at the high school level can be improved in PBIS efforts by engaging students in planning efforts, providing developmentally appropriate

reinforcements, and partnering with other high schools (Estrapala et al., 2020; see also Freeman et al., 2016).

The popularity of PBIS has been growing significantly. In the last decade, its implementation has doubled. Currently, it is estimated that more than 21,000 schools across the U.S. utilize PBIS to support student social and emotional needs. However, the level of implementation is uneven. Because trained school personnel are vital to the success of a PBIS program, and low-income schools experience higher teacher and school administrator attrition, these schools face greater challenges in implementing PBIS (Childs et al., 2016; Horner et al., 2010; Peguero & Bondy, 2020).

Social Emotional Learning

Social emotional learning (SEL) programs have been sporadically employed within schools in response to mental well-being and school safety concerns. The interest in SEL has grown because, although nearly one in six U.S. adolescents suffer mental, emotional, or behavioral disorders, only 40% of schools provide mental health or social services (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention [CDC], 2015; Whitney & Peterson, 2019). SEL programs aim to strengthen communication skills, self-control, and collaborative problem-solving practices to reduce aggression, increase social competencies and develop positive relations between students as well as students and teachers (Prevention Institute, 2001). While some of these programs (e.g., Open Circle, Second Step) are formalized, others are less structured.

The research on SEL consistently reports positive results. An analysis of 213 school based SEL programs found improvements across an array of skills, attitudes, and behaviors (Durlak et al., 2011). Other studies report that social emotional and mental health programs and strategies assist students with coping skills, self-esteem, and emotions management to curb aggressive or violent behaviors (Grossman, 1997; Paolini, 2015). In a recent study that included

30,462 students, 4,273 teacher respondents and 12,216 parents, Kautz et al. (2021) found that SEL programs that focus on self-management (how well students control their emotions, thoughts, and behavior) might have the most potential for improving student outcomes. Other emerging studies have found the use of therapy dogs with SEL programs in schools to yield positive psychological, social, and academic outcomes, and improve the school climate (Friesen, 2010; Gee et al., 2017; Sloan-Oberdier, 2018; Zents et al., 2017).

Instructional Interventions and Youth Development Programs

Instructional interventions within school safety programs aim to inform and provide factual information to students in order to bring greater awareness of social issues and influences.



Instructional interventions can be formal or informal and focus on teaching and modeling strategies to avoid dangerous, risky, harmful, or violent situations (Gottfredson et al., 2002). Instructional intervention skills include personal self-management, social competencies, and peer resistance (Hawkins et al., 2015). Common instructional intervention programs include keepin' it REAL (an evidence-based alternative to D.A.R.E.), LST (Life Skills Training), and LRE (Law-Related Education). Instructional interventions have also been woven into school curricula to counteract the implicit "hidden curriculum" and the stigmatizing language many students experience (Kayama et al., 2015; Skiba et al., 2006). The literature reports that when these instructional programs, materials and strategies are culturally relevant and student-centered they

are more likely to provide a lens of representation, validate students' feelings of being seen and heard, and increase overall student engagement (Autry, 2015; Ravitch, 2010; Timoll, 2017).

Youth development programs seek to prevent risky behaviors and build positive, relational frameworks and experiences between students and adult role models like teachers, coaches, counselors, and club advisors in school settings. These programs focus on interpersonal relationships within the school community. Sometimes known as mentoring programs, positive youth development programs manifest themselves in a myriad of ways such as sports, performing arts, extracurricular clubs, and programs (e.g., 4-H), social events (e.g., dances, picnics, gatherings), and civic engagement and volunteering opportunities. Prior studies have found that youth development programs provide the space and experience for entertaining alternatives to risky behaviors and bring together diverse student groups and adult role models to collaborate on shared goals, and that positive school relationships in turn have a positive impact on student self-esteem, school community building, and school safety outcomes (Beier et al., 2000, Dean & Galloway, 2008; Patall et al., 2008).

Trauma-informed Schools

Trauma-informed training and practices were adopted by many schools in response to the "America's hidden health crisis" (ACEs Connection, 2016), and stemmed from the clinical diagnosis of post-traumatic stress disorders. Recognizing cognitive impairment and behavioral function limitations following catastrophic events and chronic exposure to stressful circumstances, trauma-informed care has become a well-documented treatment approach to address trauma-related disorders (American Psychiatric Association, 1980; Center for Substance Abuse Treatment, 2014). The connection between trauma and childhood experiences began to be documented in the late 1990s, with the large-scale Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACEs) study revealing that more than half of adult participants reported at least one form of traumatic stress

during childhood that affected their health and wellbeing into adulthood (Anda et al., 2006; Felitti et al., 1998). It is estimated that about half to two-thirds of all K-12 students experience some form of trauma during their childhood, with children and adolescents in urban settings experiencing higher rates of violence (Campbell & Schwartz, 1996; Copeland et al., 2007; Felitti et al., 1998; McInerney & McKlindon, 2014). Trauma-informed schools recognize this reality and aim to address the negative impact of traumatic experiences on the academic, social, and emotional dimensions of students' lives (including the adoption of risky behaviors) by promoting a safe environment. Five practices guide trauma-informed care within schools: 1) supporting staff development and training, 2) creating a safe and supportive environment for students, 3) assessing needs and planning services for students and their families, 4) involving key stakeholders and community partnerships, and 5) adapting policies and practices to better meet the needs of students and families. Some trauma-informed care frameworks also include culturally appropriate treatments and academic instruction strategies for students who have experienced trauma (Beehler et al., 2012; McInerney & McKlindon, 2014; Trauma and Learning Policy Initiative, n.d.)

Amidst the growing adoption of trauma-informed approaches by schools, some authors have pointed to a greater need to assess the effects of these practices, in part to address the variance of programming approaches and implementation and the current focus of studies more on adult outcomes than on student outcomes (Berger, 2019; Cohen & Barron, 2021; Fondren et al., 2020; Maynard et al., 2019; Perfect et al., 2016). Some case studies on trauma-informed schools have revealed specific aspects of the approach being effective in addressing student mental health, academic performance, behavior, and socioemotional functioning (Beehler et al., 2012; Herrenkohl et al., 2019). These aspects include providing staff with the tools and training

necessary for trauma-informed care and implementing trauma-informed practices through a systems-wide, multi-tiered, transdisciplinary approach (Dorado et al., 2016; Purtle, 2020; Thomas et al., 2019).

Moreover, recent research on trauma-informed care in schools found that this approach is most effective when implemented alongside the student's family and key community partnerships to offer expanded resources (Herrenkohl et al., 2019; Listenbee et al., 2012). It has also been found that trauma-informed care practices are particularly impactful when they extend beyond a universal, school-wide approach to support targeted and intensive practices for students with specific needs (Fondren et al., 2020; Thomas et al., 2019). Additionally, an evaluation by the American Institutes for Research on a project to promote trauma-sensitive practices in five schools found positive changes in school climate (Jones et al., 2018b). Teachers from these schools reported fewer crises, decreased office referrals and disciplinary incidents, better communication, more cohesion, consistent implementation of policies, improved relationships between staff, students and families, more parental engagement and increased feelings of safety and calm. The study also found that the program built a sense of shared ownership for school climate and culture change and produced changes in practices and long-lasting shifts in the school culture.

Mindfulness Programs

Mindfulness programs draw on health and wellness and focus on an awareness of the mind, the body, and emotions to foster the development of the whole individual (Ager et al., 2015). Mindfulness is often considered a way of being that includes prescribed characteristics, activities, and programs. It is also considered a reflective practice guided by ancient meditation techniques rooted in various religious traditions that provide coping mechanisms for mental and emotional health problems (Albrecht et al., 2012). In school settings, it is used at an individual

level in place of detention or isolation from others or at the classroom level with students engaging in breathing exercises, reflective walks, yoga, or thought activities (Ager et al., 2015; Burnett, 2011; Sapthiang et al., 2019).

Though its practice in school is becoming increasingly popular, research on mindfulness program outcomes is still nascent. However, in a recent meta-analysis on mindfulness interventions, Zenner et al. (2014) found significant improvements in cognitive performance and resilience to stress. According to Carsley et al. (2018), these interventions seem to have the greatest impact on mental health and well-being outcomes when implemented in high schools. The Balsz School district in Phoenix, Arizona, the fifth most economically segregated district in America, has partnered with the nonprofit Mindfulness First to infuse mindfulness programming into students' daily routine. This district is embedding mindfulness in its curriculum with the goal of helping students during times of emotional dysregulation and, often, in place of punishment. District leaders also see the program as a way to improve all students' well-being, interpersonal skills and relationships, academic growth and personal development. A study conducted by Krein (2021) showed improvements in students' attitudes, engagement, and academic achievement, and an overwhelming decrease in school suspensions. In one school, for instance, yearly suspensions fell from 45 to 3 and the school's letter grade improved from C to a В.

Mental Health Support

Mental health support consists of intensive interventions for students in need of consistent mental health or acute behavioral support. This includes individual and group therapy as well as connected support systems at school and in the community provided by counselors, community mentors, social workers, and advisors, among others (Cowan et al., 2013). In 2021, the L.A. County Unified School District adopted another school safety support system model, the

school climate coach model, composed of community members specifically trained to deescalate heightened situations on school campuses (Champlin, 2021).

Because school-based mental health support systems range along a continuum, have not been subject to systematic evaluations, and are prone to unsustainable outcomes due to inadequate funding and lacking administrative support, research on these interventions varies greatly (Massey et al., 2005; Teich et al., 2008). However, a recent study of forty schools implementing an Emotional and Behavioral Health–Crisis Response and Prevention (EBH-CRP) intervention to address student emotional and behavioral health showed significant effects on decreasing bullying, referrals, and suspensions (Bohnenkamp et al., 2021). Another recent study of 49,941 elementary school-age children who received both targeted and curriculum-integrated mental health treatments in school found decreased mental health issues and externalizing behaviors (Sanchez et al., 2018). A major challenge faced by these support systems is the need for specialized human resources due to the ratio of students to supporting adults. Although the American School Counselor Association recommends a 250:1 ratio of students to school counselors, in 2018-2019, the national average was a 430:1 (U.S. Department of Education, 2019). According to Leticia (2020), the recommended ratio is justified because schools with more mental health support show an increase in attendance, graduation rates and academic achievement, and a decrease in reliance on retributive practices such as suspensions and expulsions.

Community-based Approaches

Community-based approaches seek to include community stakeholders such as parents and families, community organizations and agencies, and policy experts in school and district decisions concerning student achievement and well-being. Since schools play a central role in most communities, these approaches position school safety as not a separate endeavor to

academic and social learning. Examples of community-based approaches to school safety found in the literature include community schools, parent and family engagement, inclusive practices and policies, and anti-bullying programs. Research has found that the inclusion of community stakeholders to address school safety measures increases trust among diverse community groups and members, fosters parental and family engagement, and streamlines access to social services (Cowan et al., 2013).

Community Schools

Community schools, sometimes called "full-service" schools with "wrap around services" or communal learning centers, frame the school community as a bonded ecosystem that goes beyond traditional school fences and walls (Gottfredson et al., 2002; Oakes et al., 2017). In terms of school safety, community schools foster a shared set of goals and norms, value inclusivity and collaboration, and offer a range of community services for students and their families, including expanded learning opportunities, conflict resolution training, mental health services, substance abuse counseling, and job training (Meggie et al., 2001). Influenced by the work of pioneers like Jane Addams and John Dewey, community schools began in the US during the 1990s as a response to better serve new immigrant families and address social ills through community partnerships and philanthropic organizations (Lubell, 2011). Today, community schools' function under an alliance of national, state, and local organizations, including the founding Children's Aid Society (CAS). Their mission is "to change the role of education in the lives of students, families, and communities, so that underserved youth may be empowered to overcome obstacles and become happy, healthy and productive adults" (Lubell, 2011, p. 6).

Community schools address school safety in a holistic manner with a concentration on student-teacher relationships, community collaborations, and opportunities for extracurricular involvement (Kao et al., 2013; Kozol, 2006, 2012). While opportunities like community liaisons,

PTO/PTA, and school committees with parent volunteers have existed for a long time, the community school practice has a broader focus on a participatory framework for community and family involvement. In community schools, the greater school community functions as intervention teams and is actively involved in the school's decision-making processes and authority structures (Gottfredson et al., 2002). These processes and structures can include school personnel, students and their families, and community members establishing school rules, setting the discipline code, and handling rule enforcement (Bryk & Discroll, 1988; Maier et al., 2017). Inclusive participation in school safety and discipline lays a groundwork of shared values and fosters a sense of belonging among all community school stakeholders, especially within historically minoritized school populations. For community schools, "it takes a village" to promote school safety.

Research has shown that community schools have positive outcomes in terms of school climate, student engagement, attendance, and teacher retention and morale. They also increase student bonding to schools, improve relationships and decrease delinquency (Gottfredson et al., 2005; Payne, 2008; Payne et al., 2003). Moreover, a meta-analysis of empirical and causal studies of community schools found promising results when community organizations, parental involvement, and extracurricular activities are present within the model (Heers et al., 2011). Additional research findings on the cost-benefit of community schools have found community partnerships and wrap around services to yield positive long-term social outcomes and economic benefits (Maier et al., 2017).

Parent and Family Engagement

While community schools seek to integrate community members and services into the fabric of their schools, some schools specifically emphasize early and regular engagement of parents and family members. Enlisting the engagement of parents and family members in school

decision-making and partnership, especially of students from marginalized populations, is a promising strategy that has arisen in recent literature as associated with increased feelings of safety and reduced violence at schools (Berg et al., 2017; Cuellar & Theriot, 2015; Espelage, 2014; Hill & Tyson, 2009; Ishimaru, 2019; Weiss et al., 2009). Several studies have shown that early interventions with parental partnerships, such as fully funded kindergarten, home to school connection programming like Head Start, and programs for elementary schools like Project ACHIEVE, reduce risks of violence and crime later in life (Dwyer & Osher, 2000; Higgins & Katsipataki, 2015; Ma et al., 2016). Additional studies have shown that offering a variety of parental and community involvement opportunities during students' K-12 education reduced rates of violence, increased academic achievement, and improved attendance and behavior (Berg et al., 2017; Peterson & Skiba, 2001; Rodu & Dimock, 2017; Simon, 2001; Weiss et al., 2009). In another study, using data from the 2007-2008 School Survey on Crime and Safety, Cuellar (2018) found a negative association between parent involvement in schools and incidents like physical attacks or fights. Likewise, Raffaele Mendez et al. (2002) found that parental involvement in disciplinary matters was associated with lower rates of out-of-school suspension.

However, there are still additional unknown factors surrounding the effectiveness of parent and community engagement as a practice of school safety, particularly regarding immigrant students and families, English language learners, students and families from low socioeconomic backgrounds, and student populations long subjected to disproportionate school discipline procedures and outcomes (Mowen & Freng, 2019; Peguero & Bondy, 2020). It is pertinent to consider this research gap because approximately 25% of all students attending a K-12 school in the U.S. have at least one immigrant parent, with that proportion expected to rise to 33% by the year 2040 (U.S. Census Bureau, 2014). Moreover, there are now approximately 4.9

million English language learners in U.S. schools, a number that has increased by more than a million since 2000 (Mitchell, 2020).

Inclusive Policies and Practices

To address the physical, emotional, and social safety of marginalized student populations, many schools implement policies and practices to promote inclusivity. Among them are safe spaces or safe zones (often signaled with stickers or posters), student clubs such as Gay-Straight Alliances (GSAs), and anti-bullying programs and policies, some of which are designed to protect students based on specific traits and characteristics (e.g., race, disability, ancestry, gender identity; Sadowski, 2017). These activities and policies have specifically increased experiences of safety in schools for lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender, and queer (LGBTQ) students (Sadowski, 2017). For example, there is evidence that GSAs contribute to experiences of school safety, peer acceptance, and connectedness for LGBTQ students (Kosciw et al., 2014). A recent meta-analysis of 15 primary studies with 62,923 participants found that the presence of a GSA significantly lowered self-reported homophobic victimization, fear for one's safety, and hearing homophobic remarks (Marx & Kettrey, 2016). Likewise, GLSEN (the Gay, Lesbian & Straight Education Network) found that an enumeration of specific populations in school policies contributes to lower rates of student victimization and increases the likelihood of teacher intervention on targeted students (Sadowski, 2017).

However, despite the gains made by safe spaces and zones, GSAs, and inclusive school policies, most students still report that they "frequently" or "often" experience homophobic comments in their schools (Kosciw et al., 2014; Sadowski, 2017). Sexist and racist remarks are also pervasive (Diaz & Kosciw, 2009). Moreover, self-harming behavior and suicidality are high for all students, but they are especially high for sexual and gender minoritized students: 1 in 6 high school students considered suicide in the past year, but lesbian, gay, and bisexual students

are almost five times more likely to attempt suicide than their heterosexual counterparts (The Trevor Project, 2021). A recent analysis of the research literature also found other consequences of homophobic incidents, including decreased academic outcomes and a sense of school belonging at school increased truancy (Moyano & Sánchez-Fuentes, 2020). It is thus unsurprising that students themselves are calling for more interventions. A school-based needs assessment of 180 racially and ethnically diverse LGBTQ students found that students articulated a need for broadly safe schools (and communities) that go beyond the "pockets of safety" created by GSAs and safe zones by nurturing supportive peers and adults who consistently "have their back," and developing supportive, culturally sound resources for their families (Craig et al., 2018). In summary, the research on inclusive approaches recommend that school administrators adopt anti-discriminatory policies to ensure that their school environments are safe, affirming, and welcoming for/to LGBTQ youth and other vulnerable populations.

In addition to the policies and programs already mentioned, one promising training program that increases knowledge, awareness, and skills around homoprejudice and sexism is the "Safe Schools" training for school counselors (Byrd & Hays, 2013). Ensuring minority-inclusive and affirming curricula, providing ongoing teacher and staff training that moves from "cultural competence" to "structural competence" (i.e., moving into an analysis of the systemic causes of oppression), and honoring and affirming students and their perspectives are some important next steps for school leadership (Craig et al., 2018; Shelton et al., 2019). Furthermore, schools can collect and use quantitative data to understand how students' opportunities and outcomes differ by demographic group and qualitative data to help interpret and avoid deficit-based understandings of the results (Ford, 2020). Although many of the programs and practices to support LGBTQ and other historically minorized student populations are currently targeted

interventions, truly affirmative policies, programs, and activities should be preventative and universal in scope, further developing a sense of inclusivity and affirmation of all students and celebrating their differences.

Anti-bullying

Bullying is a common occurrence on both school grounds and online interactions. According to the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC, 2020), one in five high school students reported being bullied at school the previous year, and one in six reported being cyberbullied (Patchin & Hinduja, 2018). Some anti-bullying programs have been taken up as schoolwide campaigns and anonymous tip lines. By 2015, 98.5% of elementary, middle, and high schools had adopted anti-bullying policies for implementation on school property; 90.7% had adopted anti-bullying policies prohibiting off-campus bullying, specifically at off-campus schoolsponsored events; 91.2% had adopted a policy prohibiting electronic aggression or cyberbullying on school property; and 84.8% had adopted a policy prohibiting electronic aggression or cyberbullying from taking place at off-campus, school-sponsored events (Centers for Disease Control and Precention [CDC], 2015; Kann et al., 2016).

Interestingly, at approximately the same time, the National Crime Victimization Survey (NCVS) found that between 2007 and 2010, school-related violence dropped 50% and theft dropped 45% among all genders and races and in urban, suburban, and rural schools (Finkelhor, 2013). Moreover, a recent evaluation of empirical studies found that anti-bullying programs reduce bullying perpetration by 19-20% and victimization by 15-16% (Gaffney et al., 2018). International research supports these findings. For instance, evidence from a quasi-experimental study in 22 public secondary schools in Spain points to the "Tutoría Entre Iguales" (TEI) program as promising for bullying reduction for middle and high school students. This peer

tutoring intervention led to significant reductions in bullying and cyberbullying and improvements in school climate (Ferrer-Cascales et al., 2019).

In an influential report, the American Psychological Association Zero Tolerance Task Force (2008) identified anti-bullying programs as effective prevention strategies, particularly when they were multi-tiered in scope. This was confirmed by a recent review that found that the most effective programs are based on the premise that bullying is a "group phenomenon in which bystanders play an essential role, either encouraging bullies or standing up for the victims" (Luiz da Silva et al., 2017, p. 2333). Among anti-bullying programs, OBPP (Olweus Bullying Prevention Program) is one of the most popular options. OBPP is a school-wide, comprehensive bullying prevention and threat assessment program the begun in Norway in 1983 (Olweus & Limber, 1999; Cornell & Sheras, 2006). An intensive form of OBPP was soon evaluated and found to decrease instances of bullying by half; schools in the United States adopted OBPP nearly a decade later (Olweus, 1991; Olweus & Limber 2010). OBPP programs have four components: individual-level plans and activities, classroom-level meetings, school-level committees and training, and community-level support and best practices (Kalis, 2019). In the U.S., OBPP has been deemed a "promising program" for reducing bullying, delinquency, and violence (especially in middle schools and high schools) by the certifying entity Blueprints for Healthy Youth Development (2021).

It has been noted, however, that the research on OBPP reports inconsistent findings (Peguero & Bondy, 2020). For instance, a large-scale longitudinal study involving more than 30,000 students revealed success in reducing rates and forms of being bullied and bullying others (Olweus et al., 2019). However, critics of the OBPP program cite its inability to address all forms of student perceived bullying, since the definition of bullying and perceptions of the

bullying injuries and victimization is couched in primarily adult language, contextualized definitions, and inconsistent understandings of bullying (Hong, 2009; Peguero, 2012; Swearer et al., 2010). Interestingly, a recent 5-year evaluation on the impacts of OBBP in urban middle schools found reductions in teachers' ratings of student aggression but the students reported no intervention effects (Farrell et al., 2018). The adult interpretations of bullying may influence which preventative practices are adopted and implemented with specificity and fidelity and unintentionally create "systems of intimidation based on race/ethnicity, gender, religion, socioeconomic status, social class, physical ability, and sexual orientation" (Peguero, 2012). Likewise, intimidation based on identity groups and intersectional identities may be excluded from school staffs' definition of bullying but may be of most importance to the students (Peguero & Bondy, 2020). Overall, whether school leaders incorporate an approach to the bullying prevention initiative that resonates with the students may determine the success. Another factor in bullying prevention related to secondary school environments is that bullying victimization has been found to decrease with age. However, as bullying decreases, the likelihood of sexual harassment increases, suggesting that the name and scope of the aggressive behavior may shift with age, but not the need to address it (Felix et al., 2009).

Self-governance Approaches

Self-governance design and approaches to school safety have slowly become more mainstream in relation to student voice, equity, and student and familial engagement. While similar to the community-based approaches in addressing school safety, self-governance approaches place greater emphasis on the inclusion of students in decision-making processes. Some examples of self-governance approaches to address school safety are democratic schools, peace education and conflict resolution programs, restorative justice, peer mediation, and school-based teen courts. When centering students in school reform efforts to address engagement and

safety challenges, studies have shown an increase in a myriad of skills (leadership, problem solving, communication, and organizational) while improving the overall school climate and academic achievement (Osberg et al., 2006; Weiss, 2018). However, another study of 22 urban high schools implementing school safety programs that include student voice and participation, highlights the effectiveness of these approaches to be highly dependent on the fidelity, reach, quality, and school context (Giraldo-Garcia et al., 2021).

Democratic Schools

Democratic schools build on progressive education traditions, experiential learning, student-centered pedagogies, and shared governance. They operate with the principles of participatory democracy, which entail the involvement of all stakeholders (especially students) in deliberation and decision-making on a variety of issues traditionally reserved for school administrators, including discipline, safety, and conflict. Some 20th century examples of this approach include Sumerhill (England), Sudbury Schools (U.S.), and Citizen Schools (Brazil). In democratic schools, self-governance often includes legislative, executive, and judicial bodies, regular meetings, general assemblies, and frequent voting. Through democratic processes, students (in collaboration with teachers and administrators) make policies and are responsible for enforcing them, with the only restriction being that they cannot make rules that contradict government laws or put the school community at risk. If there is a complaint that a rule was broken, a judicial committee of students from different grades investigate the incident and decide on an appropriate outcome for the student(s) in question. Through participation in the school's democratic process, students learn to make decisions together and to live with their consequences. Implementation of democratic education principles in schools can exist in various forms, spanning from classroom-based practices to the school ethos, including school safety plans and procedures.

Research has shown that democratic schools enhance psychological health, increase social skills, improve discipline, and have positive outcomes in student behavior and perceived school safety, especially when students have a key role in promoting and enforcing school discipline (Gutmann & Ben-Porath, 2014; LeBlanc & Skaruppa 1997; Rudduck & Flutter, 2000; Sadofsky, 2000). Moreover, several large-scale studies concluded that when democratic education promotes anti-racist, inclusive, and equitable mindsets, school climate improves and violence and hostility within schools decrease (Apple & Beane, 1999; Osler, 2002; Osler & Starkey, 2005; Richardson & Miles, 2003; Richardson & Wood, 1999). Furthermore, an examination of 32 empirical studies on the impact of student participation in school decision-making processes found positive effects on life skills, self-esteem, social status, democratic skills and citizenship, student-adult relationships and school ethos on the part of student participants (Mager & Nowak, 2012). This meta-analysis also found evidence of positive effects on academic achievement, facilities, rules or policies, and health. Another study on a cooperative discipline program that included 62 middle school teachers in Georgia found a positive impact on student behavior and school climate (Anderson, 2006).

Peace Education and Conflict Resolution

Peace education focuses on competencies such as cooperation, communication, tolerance, and positive emotional expression to address school safety concerns (Kreidler, 1984; Quinney, 1989). As early as 1912, movements to establish chapters of the School Peace League in schools were underway in nearly every state in the U.S. (Howlett, 2008). Rooted in progressive education and human rights, peace education strives to disrupt socially constructed barriers among diverse populations and foster interpersonal relations, conflict resolution, forgiveness, and violence prevention skills (Caulfield, 2000; Harris, 2008). Conflict resolution education is a related approach that stems from the 1960s movements of community mediation as an alternative

to the formal legal and justice systems (Garrard & Lipsey, 2007). Both peace and conflict resolution education models include support to build equitable relationships through anti-bias education. Discipline and school safety plans are approached through the lenses of social justice, creative problem solving, and crisis management (Bickmore, 2011; Caulfield, 2000). Activities include meetings and mediating behavior solutions to foster positive relationships and inclusive communities among learners (Johnson & Johnson, 1994; Slavin, 1990, 1995). The curricula are designed for students to develop competencies in six areas (Crawford & Bodine, 2001): building a peaceable climate, understanding conflict, understanding peace and peacemaking, mediation, negotiation, and group problem solving. Each area aims at nurturing a conflict management approach without coercion or alienation.

The research on peace education and conflict resolution programs reveals positive impacts on the development of conflict resolution skills. A meta-analysis on conflict resolution training conducted in eight different schools in two countries found students to effectively apply the procedures to both school and non-school settings and more frequently engage in problem solving to address issues (Johnson & Johnson, 2001). Moreover, other studies have found that approximately 85 to 95% of the mediated student conflicts resulted in lasting agreements, that referrals to administrative personnel for inappropriate student behavior decreased, and that antisocial behaviors such as bullying, physical aggression, and fights (especially among adolescents) declined. These programs also had a positive impact on turn-taking behavior and, interestingly, on the disposition and ability of students to apply mediation skills in different conflict situations at school and at home (Garrard & Lipsey, 2007; Lane-Garon et al., 2005; LaRusso & Selman, 2011; Smith et al., 2002; Turk, 2018).

Restorative Practices

Restorative practices are rooted in indigenous conceptions and traditions of justice that value human dignity and respect, emphasize healing and accountability and strive at repairing relationships and promoting safer communities. In restorative practices, offenders must make amends for their harmful actions and provide assistance to the victims. In seeking justice, restorative practices utilize dialogue and relational pedagogies to orient the wrongdoer with the person or people harmed to humanize the injury having been committed (Gregory & Evans, 2020; Pranis, 2007; Van Ness & Strong, 2014). After successful implementation in the criminal justice system, restorative practices were adopted by schools worldwide to improve relationships after conflict and prevent future harm. Misconduct is seen not so much as a violation of an institutional rule but as a disrespect to others in the school community (Cameron & Thorsborne, 2001; McCluskey et al., 2008).

Research on restorative practices found that they successfully promote dialogue and accountability, create a stronger sense of community, improve relationships, reduce exclusionary discipline referrals, and increase equity in discipline (Cowan et al., 2013; Davis, 2014; Gregory & Evans, 2020; Gregory et al., 2016a; Osher & Berg, 2018). Likewise, after reviewing the research literature, DePaoli et al. (2021) concluded that restorative practices contribute to safe learning environments and the development of positive, supportive, and authentic relationships. Moreover, in a Chicago study, Rich et al. (2017) found significant the use of restorative practices led to a decrease in out-of-school suspensions (30% lower than comparison school) and inschool suspensions (14% lower than comparison school). Also, in a recent evaluation of ten studies, Katic et al. (2020) found that schools that implemented restorative practices reduced the use of office disciplinary referrals and suspensions, lowered rates of bullying behavior, and saw increases in social skills and self-esteem. When used as a method to shepherd school safety,

restorative practices have also been shown to be an effective alternative to punitive responses to wrongdoing (Karp & Breslin, 2001). More specifically, the restorative practice of relational pedagogy, often observed through the instructional method of circling, builds a listening culture, and positively impact student practices of respect, empathy, trust, critical thinking, and problem solving, and shared leadership in addressing changes across school campuses (Gregory et al., 2016b; Hollweck et al., 2019; Hopkins, 2015).

School districts that implemented restorative justice practices as an alternative to traditional school discipline measures have cited overall drops in in- and out-of-school suspensions. For example, the Dallas Independent School District experienced a 70% decrease in in-school suspensions, a 77% decrease in out-of-school suspensions, and a 50% cut to the number of students sent to an alternative place of learning (Long, 2016). However, research shows that restorative practices, including peer mediation and student conferences, have not been implemented equitably across schools. In a study using a nationally representative sample, Payne and Welch (2015; 2018) found that schools with more low-income and minoritized students are more likely to use harsh disciplinary practices and less likely to use restorative approaches.

Peer Mediation

Peer mediation programs have some similarities with restorative practices (both uses facilitated dialogue in conflict situations) but peer mediation focuses on finding solutions rather than on recognizing the impact of the harm and repairing relationships. Peer mediation programs are implemented in schools as a support structure to overall school safety efforts. Drawing from a conflict resolution framework, peer mediation stems from former US President Jimmy Carter's Neighborhood Justice Centers, featuring "community mediation" as an alternative to policing and the court system. The process brings together disputing participants, alongside the assistance of a neutral person(s), to analyze the issues, develop options, consider alternatives, and reach a

settlement between participants (Cohen, 2005). In schools, peer mediation addresses disputes among students and members of the school community by bringing together those involved with the assistance of a neutral peer. This process allows for mediation participants to develop mutual understandings, alternative options, and a consensual agreement to move forward.

Studies on peer mediation have revealed declines in school violence and student suspensions (Bell et al., 2000; Bickmore, 2002; Churchill, 2013; Schellenberg et al., 2007). Peer mediation strategies have shown to not only foster safer school environments but also have increased skills among participants like problem solving, collaboration, and leadership and reduced student "obliging" and "avoiding" behaviors (Ay et al., 2019; Powell et al., 1995; Prevention Institute, 2001). Furthermore, peer mediators themselves show enhanced social-emotional skills, attendance, and sense of connection with their schools (Devoogd et al., 2016).

School-Based Teen Courts

School-Based Teen Courts (SBTC) are alternative programs to suspension, expulsion and/or juvenile justice referral whereby student participants determine consequences for offending youth through a courtroom-like process, using restorative justice principles (Cotter & Evans, 2018). According to Smokowski et al. (2020), SBTC is a viable alternative to school routine discipline by addressing the school-to-prison pipeline and improving school safety. In a study on the educational value of youth courts in Pennsylvania, Norton et al. (2013) found positive impacts like reduced recidivism (fewer students committed disciplinary infractions and received suspensions after their youth court hearings than referred students who did not attend youth court hearings) and positive peer pressure led students to "clean up their act" and increased a sense of belonging to their school communities. Interestingly, this study identified improvements not only on students who committed offenses but also on students who served on the courts. This included academic behaviors (e.g., attendance, participation, being organized),

social skills (e.g., interpersonal skills, cooperation, empathy, and responsibility) and sense of attachment. Moreover, in an evaluation of 15 studies of Teen Courts (most of them in non-school settings) that assessed statistical significance of recidivism, Gase et al. (2016) noted that four studies found statistically significant results favoring Teen Courts, one study found statistically significant results favoring the traditional justice system, and ten found null results. They also pointed out that these findings should be interpreted with caution considering weak study designs, lack of description and assessment of intervention components, unclear and inconsistent outcome measures, and little examination of pathways or differential intervention effects.

Along the same lines, a recent review of teen court studies found heterogeneity across program components and practices and few rigorous evaluations (Cotter & Evans, 2018). Since then, Smokowski et al. (2020) completed a randomized trial with 24 middle and high schools. The study found that students at SBTC schools reported higher school satisfaction, fewer antisocial friendships, and a perceived decrease in violent behavior. However, the wrongdoers reported increased feelings of peer rejection and lack of support. Smokowski et al. (2020) suggest this may be a result of the offending youth losing contact with peers, although this could also be the result of alienation the wrongdoer feels from his peers who serve as part of the courtroom. Further research is needed into SBTC effects on young "offenders," including whether using legalistic language and procedures in the school setting is beneficial for young people and school safety.

Concluding Remarks

Presently, many school districts are at a critical juncture. Students and communities across the country have demanded schools without police. Also, there is a growing consensus among researchers and educational leaders



that hiring SROs is not the most cost-effective strategy to promote school safety. Moreover, there is mounting evidence that SROs' presence on campus results in disproportionate punishment and inequitable use of exclusionary school disciplinary practices, with long-lasting negative impacts, especially on historically marginalized students like students of color, students with disabilities, LGBTQ+ students, and students of low socioeconomic status. In this context, many educators, students, parents, administrators, researchers, and community members are interested in exploring promising alternative programs for improving school safety that could replace or complement SROs. In our review, we found seventeen options available to school districts. We organized these programs in four approaches (punitive, social psychological, community-based, and self-governance) and identified which ones are more likely to be universal, targeted, or intensive interventions. We then examined studies conducted during the last two decades on the effectiveness of these programs.

Punitive approaches seem pragmatic in creating safer schools and deterring antisocial, illicit, and violent behaviors but the research literature reveals that, as in the case of SROs, they are not only ineffective, but also tend to escalate antisocial behaviors and disproportionately impact disadvantaged communities. The other three approaches (social psychological,

community-based, and self-governance), which emphasize preventive and proactive strategies and pedagogical principles, are more likely to improve school climate and reduce disciplinary incidents (Bear, 2011; Jean-Pierre & Parris 2018; McCluskey et al., 2008). Furthermore, the literature suggests that when schools commit to fair and consistent enforcement of rules, avoid the over-labeling students in regard to risk and referrals to the juvenile court to secure services, and strengthen relationships within the school community, they are more likely to reduce exposure to violence and victimization and help students feel safer (Fisher et al., 2018; Gottfredson et al., 2005; Gregory et al., 2010; Johnson, 2009; Mears et al., 2019).

Each program has strengths and weaknesses; therefore, schools can adopt and adapt a mix of these 17 programs, creating a nested or layered system of school safety measures. The decisions behind which school safety programs and how they can be implemented are still very much contextualized in a school's community and values and highly dependent on the perception of individual student factors like substance abuse, violence, victimization, or self-control. It is important to note that even without the presence of SROs on campus and the implementation of alternative programs, schools will continue to work with local police. For instance, Phoenix Union stated that in addition to the alternatives recommended by the school community through the participatory budgeting process, it will use off-duty officers, when and as needed, to assist with the requirements of law enforcement notifications, campus and community safety needs, and other mandatory reporting issues. However, police officers will be assigned to the district and not to individual schools like in the past (Phoenix Union, 2020).

Future research is needed on each of the promising models presented herein, paying particular attention to the quality of their implementation for creating and sustaining school safety (Afkinich & Klumpner, 2018) and their impact on historically marginalized students.

Likewise, more meta-research is needed to update the information on the most effective approaches currently available to schools. Strong research design (i.e., quasi-experiment or randomized control trials longitudinal in nature) can help establish a clearer causal relation between programs and their effectiveness. Furthermore, schools aiming to improve school safety should also consider factors within school campus dynamics such as relationships, curriculum, and extra-curricular opportunities (Allen et al., 2018; Ibrahim & El Zaatari, 2020; Kutsyuruba et al., 2015; Mahoney, 2000). Likewise, it is pertinent to establish baseline characteristics before evidence-based program implementation to provide relevant data for decision-making and for the replication and adaptation of the most successful models (Astor et al., 2010).

One limitation to some of the promising school safety interventions highlighted in this paper is that they tend to be prescriptive and applied "top down." However, schools have opportunities for democratic, grassroots processes that bring together all school stakeholders in adapting best practices to fit their school communities (Astor et al., 2005). Another limitation of these approaches is the reliance on the level of quality of teacher training and the fidelity of implementation. A community-driven participatory budgeting on school safety that includes students, parents, and staff like the one promoted by the Phoenix Union High School District constitutes an innovative and exciting initiative to address these limitations. We hope that the menu of options presented in this paper assists this district and other districts, school leaders, and community stakeholders in their deliberations on equitable and effective school safety alternatives to SROs.

References

- ACEs Connection: A Community-of-Practice Social Network. (2016). Childhood trauma:

 America's hidden health crisis. https://www.acesconnection.com/g/los-angeles-acesconnection/clip/childhood-trauma-america-s-hidden-health-crisis
- Afkinich, J. L., & Klumpner, S. (2018). Violence prevention strategies and school safety.

 Journal of the Society for Social Work and Research, 9(4), 637-650.

 https://www.journals.uchicago.edu/doi/pdf/10.1086/700656
- Ager, K., Albrecht, N. & Cohen, P. (2015). Mindfulness in schools research project: Exploring students' perspectives of mindfulness—What are students' perspectives of learning mindfulness practices at school? *Psychology*, 6, 896-914. DOI: 10.4236/psych.2015.67088
- Albrecht, N. J., Albrecht, P., & Cohen, M. (2012). Mindfully Teaching in the Classroom: A Literature Review. *Australian Journal of Teacher Education*, *37*, 1-14. http://dx.doi.org/10.14221/ajte.2012v37n12.2
- Allen, K., Kern, M. L., Vella-Brodrick, D., Hattie, J., & Waters, L. (2018). What schools need to know about fostering school belonging: A meta-analysis. *Educational Psychology**Review, 30(1), 1-34. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10648-016-9389-8
- Alter C. (2018) Positive Behavioral Interventions and Supports (PBIS). In: Volkmar F. (eds)

 Encyclopedia of Autism Spectrum Disorders. Springer.
- American Institutes for Research. (2021). *Safety*. https://safesupportivelearning.ed.gov/topic-research/safety
- American Psychiatric Association. (1980). Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders (3rd ed.).

- American Psychological Association Zero Tolerance Task Force. (2008). Are zero tolerance policies effective in the schools?: An evidentiary review and recommendations. The *American Psychologist*, 63(9), 852–862. https://doi.org/10.1037/0003-066X.63.9.852
- Anda, R. F., Felitti, V. J., Bremner, J. D., Walker, J. D., Whitfield, C. H., Perry, B. D., Dube, S.
 R. & Giles, W. H. (2006). The enduring effects of abuse and related adverse experiences in childhood. *European archives of psychiatry and clinical neuroscience*, 256(3), 174-186. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00406-005-0624-4
- Anderson, A. (2006). The effects of a research-based discipline program, Consistency

 Management and Cooperative Discipline, on classroom management and discipline in

 urban middle schools (Publication No. 3213414) [Doctoral dissertation: Capella

 University]. ProQuest Dissertations Publishing.
- Apple, M. W. & Beane, J.A. (1999). *Democratic schools: Lessons from the chalk face*.

 Open University Press.
- Arizona Department of Education. (2020). *Model school plan*.

 https://www.azed.gov/sites/default/files/2020/11/ModelSchoolSafetyPlan%20%28final%29.pdf
- Astor, R. A., Meyer, H. A., Benbenishty, R., Marachi, R., & Rosemond, M. (2005). School safety interventions: Best practices and programs. *Children and Schools*, 27(1), 17–32. https://academic.oup.com/cs/article/27/1/17/417065
- Astor, R. A., Guerra, N., & van Acker, R. (2010). How can we improve school safety research? *Educational Researcher*, 39(1), 69–78. https://doi.org/10.3102/0013189X09357619
- Autry, F. (2015). Education, medication and incarceration: No child left behind and the school-to-prison pipeline. Createspace Independent Publishing Platform.

- Ay, S. Ç., Keskin, H. K., & Akilli, M. (2019). Examining the effects of negotiation and peer mediation on students' conflict resolution and problem-solving skills. *International Journal of Instruction*, 12(3), 717-730. https://www.e-iji.net/dosyalar/iji_2019_3_43.pdf
- Bachman, R., Randolph, A., & Brown, B. L. (2011). Predicting perceptions of fear at school and going to and from school for African American and white students: The effects of school security measures. *Youth & Society, 43*, 705–726.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/0044118X10366674
- Bear, G. (2011). Positive psychology and school discipline: Positive is not simply the opposite of punitive. *Communiqué*, 39(5), 8-9.
- Beger, R. (2002). Expansion of police power in public schools and the vanishing rights of students. *Social Justice*, *29*, 119–130. https://www.jstor.org/stable/29768123
- Beehler, S., Birman, D., & Campbell, R. (2012). The effectiveness of cultural adjustment and trauma services (CATS): Generating practice-based evidence on a comprehensive, school-based mental health intervention for immigrant youth. *American Journal of Community Psychology*, 50(1-2), 155-168. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10464-011-9486-2
- Beier, S. R., Rosenfeld, W. D., Spitalny, K. C., Zansky, S. M., & Bontempo, A. N. (2000). The potential role of an adult mentor in influencing high-risk behaviors in adolescents.
 Archives of Pediatrics & Adolescent Medicine, 154(4), 327-331.
 doi:10.1001/archpedi.154.4.327
- Bell, S. K., Coleman, J. K., Anderson, A., Whelan, J. P., & Wilder, C. (2000). The effectiveness of peer mediation in a low-SES rural elementary school. *Psychology in the Schools*, 37(6), 505-516. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1002/1520-6807(200011)37:6<505::AID-PITS3>3.0.CO;2-5">https://doi.org/10.1002/1520-6807(200011)37:6<505::AID-PITS3>3.0.CO;2-5

- Berg, J., Osher, D., Moroney, D., & Yoder, N. (2017). The intersection of school climate and social emotional development. American Institutes for Research.
- Berger, E. (2019). Multi-tiered approaches to trauma-informed care in schools: A systematic review. *School Mental Health*, 11(4), 650-664. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12310-019-09326-0
- Bickmore, K. (2002). Peer mediation training and program implementation in elementary schools: Research results. *Conflict Resolution Quarterly*, 20(2), 137-160. https://doi.org/10.1002/crq.17
- Bickmore K. (2011). Policies and programming for safer schools: Are "anti-bullying" approaches impeding education for peacebuilding? *Educational Policy*, 25(4), 648-687. doi:10.1177/0895904810374849
- Blueprints for Healthy Youth Development. (2021). Olweus Bullying Prevention Program.

 University of Colorado Boulder Institute of Behavioral Science.

 https://www.blueprintsprograms.org/programs/11999999/olweus-bullying-prevention-program/
- Bohnenkamp, J. H., Schaeffer, C. M., Siegal, R., Beason, T., Smith-Millman, M., & Hoover, S. (2021). Impact of a school-based, multi-tiered emotional and behavioral health crisis intervention on school safety and discipline. *Prevention Science*, 22, 492-503. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11121-020-01195-3
- Bracy, N. (2011). Student perceptions of high-security school environments. *Youth & Society*, 43, 365–395. https://doi.org/10.1177/0044118X10365082
- Bradshaw, C. P. (2013). Preventing bullying through Positive Behavioral Interventions and

- Supports (PBIS): A multitiered approach to prevention and integration. *Theory into Practice*, 52(4), 288–295. https://doi.org/10.1080/00405841.2013.829732
- Brady, K. P., Balmer, S., & Phenix, D. (2007). School—police partnership effectiveness in urban schools: An analysis of New York City's Impact Schools Initiative. *Education and Urban Society*, *39*(4), 455-478. doi:10.1177/0013124507302396
- Brown, J. A., Russell, S., Hattouni, E., & Kincaid, A. (2020). Psychoeducation. In *Oxford Research Encyclopedia of Education*.
- Bryk, A. S., & Driscoll, M. E. (1988). The high school as community: Contextual influences and consequences for students and teachers (ED302539). (ERIC).

 https://eric.ed.gov/?id=ED302539
- Burnett, R. (2011). Mindfulness in schools: Learning lessons from the adults, secular and Buddhist. *Buddhist Studies Review*, 28(1), 79-120. https://doi.org/10.1558/bsrv.v28i1.79
- Byrd, R., & Hays, D. G. (2013). Evaluating a safe space training for school counselors and trainees using a randomized control group design. *Professional School Counseling*, 17(1). https://www.jstor.org/stable/profschocoun.17.1.20
- Cameron, L. & Thorsborne, M. (2001). Restorative justice and school discipline: Mutually exclusive? In H. Strang & J. Braithwaite (Eds). Restorative justice and civil society (pp. 180–195). Cambridge University Press.
- Campbell, C., & Schwartz, D.F. (1996). Prevalence and impact of exposure to interpersonal violence among suburban and urban middle school students. *Pediatrics*, 98(3), 396-402.
- Carsley, D., Khoury, B., & Heath, N. L. (2018). Effectiveness of mindfulness interventions for mental health in schools: A comprehensive meta-analysis. *Mindfulness*, *9*(3), 693-707. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12671-017-0839-2

- Casella, R. (2006). Selling us the fortress: The promotion of techno-security equipment for schools. Routledge.
- Caulfield, S. L. (2000). Creating peaceable schools. *The Annals of the American Academy of Political and Social Science*, 567(1), 170–185. https://www.jstor.org/stable/1049501
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). (2015). Results from the School Health

 Policies and Practices Study 2014. Atlanta, GA: National Center for HIV/AIDS, Viral

 Hepatitis, STD, and TB Prevention, Division of Adolescent and School Health, US

 Department of Health and Human Services, CDC.

https://www.cdc.gov/healthyyouth/data/shpps/pdf/shpps-508-final_101315.pdf

- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2020). *Preventing Bullying*. Atlanta, GA: National Center for Injury Prevention and Control, Division of Violence Prevention, US Department of Health and Human Services, CDC.

 https://www.cdc.gov/violenceprevention/youthviolence/bullyingresearch/fastfact.html
- Center for Substance Abuse Treatment. (2014). Appendix C of treatment improvement protocol series, No. 57: Trauma-informed care in behavioral health services. Rockville, MD:

 Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration.

 https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK207202/
- Center on PBIS. (2021). What is high school PBIS?

 https://www.pbis.org/topics/high-school-pbis
- Champlin, C. (2021, February 18). Who are 'climate coaches' LAUSD plans to hire in place of cops. *LAist*. https://laist.com/news/who-are-climate-coaches-lausd-plans-to-hire-in-place-of-cops
- Childs, K. E., Kincaid, D., George, H. P., & Gage, N. A. (2016). The relationship between

- school-wide implementation of positive behavior intervention and supports and student discipline outcomes. *Journal of Positive Behavior Interventions*, *18*(2), 89-99. https://doi.org/10.1177/1098300715590398
- Churchill, R. (2013). Today's Children, Tomorrow's Protectors: Purpose and Process for Peer Mediation in K-12 Education. *Pepperdine Dispute Resolution Law Journal*, 13(2). https://digitalcommons.pepperdine.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1248&context=drlj
- Cohen, C. E., & Barron, I. G. (2021). Trauma-informed high schools: A systematic narrative review of the literature. *School Mental Health*, 13, 225–234. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12310-021-09432-y
- Cohen, R. (2005). Students resolving conflict: Peer mediation in schools. Good Year Books.
- Copeland, W. E., Keeler, G., Angold, A., & Costello, E. J. (2007). Traumatic events and posttraumatic stress in childhood. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, 64(5), 577-584. doi:10.1001/archpsyc.64.12.1451-a
- Cornell, D. G., & Sheras P. L. (2006). *Guidelines for responding to student threats of violence*.

 Sopris West Educational Services.
- Cotter, K. L., & Evans, C. B. R. (2018). A systematic review of teen court evaluation studies: A focus on evaluation design characteristics and program components and processes.

 *Adolescent Research Review, 3, 425–447. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40894-017-0056-1
- Cowan, J. Hubler, S. & Taylor, K. (2021, February 17). Protesters urged defunding the police.

 Schools in big cities are doing it. *The New York Times*.

 https://www.nytimes.com/2021/02/17/us/los-angeles-school-police.html
 - Cowan, K. C., Vaillancourt, K., Rossen, E., & Pollitt, K. (2013). A framework for safe and successful schools.

- https://www.naesp.org/sites/default/files/Framework%20for%20Safe%20and%20Success ful%20School%20Environments_FINAL_0.pdf
- Craig, S. L., McInroy, L. B., & Austin, A. (2018). "Someone to have my back": Exploring the needs of racially and ethnically diverse lesbian, gay, bisexual, and transgender high school students. *Children and Schools*, 40(4), 231–239. https://doi.org/10.1093/cs/cdy016
- Crawford, D. K., & Bodine, R. J. (2001). Conflict resolution education: Preparing youth for the future. *Juvenile Justice*, 8(1), 21-29.
 - https://www.ncjrs.gov/html/ojjdp/jjjournal_2001_6/jj3.html
- Critical Exposure. (n.d.). *The everyday routine* [Image]. https://criticalexposure.org/gallery/School-to-Prison-Pipeline
- Cuellar, M. J. (2018). School safety strategies and their effects on the occurrence of school-based violence in U.S. high schools: An exploratory study. *Journal of School Violence*, *17*(1), 28–45. https://doi.org/10.1080/15388220.2016.1193742
- Cuellar, M. J., & Theriot, M. T. (2015). Exploring the Effects of Parental and Community

 Involvement on the Implementation of School Safety Strategies in United States High

 Schools. *Journal of School Public Relations*, 36(3), 320-350.

 https://doi.org/10.3138/jspr.36.3.320
- Darling-Hammond, L. (2007, May 21). Evaluating No Child Left Behind. The Nation.
- Davis, F. E. (2014, September 26). 8 tips for schools interested in restorative justice. *Edutopia*. https://www.edutopia.org/blog/restorative-justice-tips-for-schools-fania-davis.
- Dean, S., & Galloway, D. (2008) What can other schools learn from a failing school that turned around? Some suggestions from Canada. *Pastoral Care in Education*, 26(3), 159-169. https://doi.org/10.1080/02643940802246542

- DePaoli, J. L., Hernández, L. E., Furger, R. C., & Darling-Hammond, L. (2021). *A restorative* approach for equitable education. Learning Policy Institute.
- Devlin, D. N., & Fisher, B. W. (2021). An examination of school resource officers as an approach to reduce social disturbances in schools: Evidence from a national longitudinal study. *Journal of School Violence*, 20(2), 228-240.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/15388220.2021.1875843
- DeVoogd, K., Lane-Garon, P., & Kralowec, C. A. (2016). Direct instruction and guided practice matter in conflict resolution and social-emotional learning. *Conflict Resolution Quarterly*, 33(3), 279-296. http://dx.doi.org.ezproxy1.lib.asu.edu/10.1002/crq.21156
- DeVos, B., Nielsen, K. M., & Azar, A. M. (2018). Final report of the Federal Commission on School Safety. Presented to the President of the United States. US Department of Education. https://www2.ed.gov/documents/school-safety/school-safety-report.pdf.
- Diaz, E. M., & Kosciw, J. G. (2009). *The experiences of lesbian, gay, bisexual, and transgender students of color in our nation's schools*. www.glsen.org/research.
- Díaz-Vicario, A. & Gairín Sallán, J. (2017). A comprehensive approach to managing school safety: case studies in Catalonia, Spain. *Educational Research*, *59*(1), 89-106. https://doi.org/10.1080/00131881.2016.1272430
- Donnell, D. K. (2016). Students' perceptions about the effectiveness of school resource officers (Publication No. 10244099) [Doctoral dissertation, Tennessee State University].

 ProQuest Dissertations Publishing.
- Dorado, J. S., Martinez, M., McArthur, L. E., & Leibovitz, T. (2016). Healthy Environments and

- Response to Trauma in Schools (HEARTS): A whole-school, multi-level, prevention and intervention program for creating trauma-informed, safe and supportive schools. *School Mental Health*, 8(1), 163-176. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12310-016-9177-0
- Dunning-Lozano, J. L. (2018). Secondary Discipline: The Unintended Consequences of Zero

 Tolerance School Discipline for Low-Income Black and Latina Mothers. *Urban Education*.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/0042085918817343
- Dupper, D. R. (2010). Does the punishment fit the crime? The impact of zero tolerance discipline on at-risk youths. *Social Work in Education*, *32*(2), 67-69.

 https://doi.org/10.1093/cs/32.2.67
- Durlak, J. A., Weissberg, R. P., Dymnicki, A. B., Taylor, R. D., & Schellinger, K. B. (2011). The impact of enhancing students' social and emotional learning: A meta-analysis of school-based universal interventions. *Child development*, 82(1), 405-432.
 https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-8624.2010.01564.x
- Dwyer, K. and Osher, D. (2000). *Safeguarding our children: An action guide*. U.S. Departments of Education and Justice, American Institutes for Research.
- Eder, S., Keller, M. H., and Migliozzi, B. (2021, April 18). As new police reform laws sweep across the U.S., some ask: Are they enough? *New York Times*. https://www.nytimes.com/2021/04/18/us/police-reform-bills.html
- Espelage, D. L. (2014). Ecological theory: Preventing youth bullying, aggression, and victimization. *Theory Into Practice*, *53*(4), 257–264. https://doi.org/10.1080/00405841.2014.947216
- Estrapala, S., Rila, A., & Leigh Bruhn, A. (2020). High school PBIS tier 1: A systematic review.

- Journal of Positive Behavior Interventions, 1–15. https://doi.org/10.1177/1098300720929684
- Farrell, A. D., Sullivan, T. N., Sutherland, K. S., Corona, R., & Masho, S. (2018). Evaluation of the Olweus Bully Prevention Program in an urban school system in the USA. *Prevention Science*, 19(6), 833–847. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11121-018-0923-4.
- Felix, E. D., Furlong, M. J., & Austin, G. (2009). A cluster analytic investigation of school violence victimization among diverse students. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, 24(20), 1673–1695. https://doi.org/10.1177/0886260509331507.
- Felitti, V. J., Anda, R. F., Nordenberg, D., Williamson, D. F., Spitz, A. M., Edwards, V., Koss, M. P., & Marks, J. S. (1998). Relationship of childhood abuse and household dysfunction to any of the leading causes of death in adults: The Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACE)
 Study. American Journal of Preventive Medicine, 14(4), 245-258.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/S0749-3797(98)00017-8.
- Ferrer-Cascales, R., Albaladejo-Blázquez, N., Sánchez-Sansegundo, M., Portilla-Tamarit, I., Lordan, O., & Ruiz-Robledillo, N. (2019). Effectiveness of the TEI Program for bullying and cyberbullying reduction and school climate improvement. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health Article*, *16*(580), 1–13. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph16040580
- Finkelhor, D. (2013). *Trends in bullying and peer victimization*. Crimes Against Children Research Center, University of New Hampshire.
- Fisher, B. W., & Hennessy, E. A. (2016). School resource officers and exclusionary discipline in US high schools: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Adolescent Research Review*, 1(3), 217-233. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40894-015-0006-8

- Fisher, B. W., Viano, S., & Chris Curran, F. (2018). Students' feelings of safety, exposure to violence and victimization, and authoritative school climate. *American Journal of Criminal Justice* 43, 6–25. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12103-017-9406-6
- Flannery, K. B., Fenning, P., Kato, M. M. & McIntosh, K. (2014). Effects of school-wide positive behavioral interventions and supports and fidelity of implementation in problem behavior in high schools. *School Psychology Quarterly*, 29, 111-124. https://doi.org/10.1037/spq0000039
- Fondren, K., Lawson, M., Speidel, R., McDonnell, C. G., & Valentino, K. (2020). Buffering the effects of childhood trauma within the school setting: A systematic review of trauma-informed and trauma-responsive interventions among trauma-affected youth. *Children and Youth Services Review*, 109, 104691.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.childyouth.2019.104691
- Ford, A. (2020). Using data to advance race equity. *Edutopia*.

 https://www.edutopia.org/article/using-data-advance-racial-equity
- Freeman, J., Wilkinson, S. & Vanlone, J. (2016, November). *Status of high school PBIS implementation in the U.S.* PBIS.org.
- Freeman, J., Simonsen, B., McCoach, D. B. Sugai, G., Lombardi, A. & Horner, R. (2015).

 Relationship between school-wide positive behavior interventions and supports and academic, attendance and behavior outcomes in high schools. *Journal of Positive Behavior Interventions*, 18, 41-51. https://doi.org/10.1177/1098300715580992
- Friesen, L. (2010). Exploring animal-assisted programs with children in school and therapeutic contexts. *Early Childhood Education Journal*, *37*(4), 261-267. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10643-009-0349-5

- Gaffney, H., Ttofi, M. M., & Farrington, D. P. (2018). Evaluating the effectiveness of school-bullying prevention programs: An updated meta-analytical review. *Aggression and Violent Behavior*, 45, 111–133. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.avb.2018.07.001
- Garrard, W. M. and Lipsey, M. W. (2007), Conflict resolution education and antisocial behavior in U.S. schools: A meta-analysis. *Conflict Resolution Quarterly*, 25, 9-38. https://doiorg.ezproxy1.lib.asu.edu/10.1002/crq.188
- Gase, L. N., Schooley, T., DeFosset, A., Stoll, M. A., & Kuo, T. (2016). The impact of Teen

 Courts on youth outcomes: A systematic review. *Adolescent Research Review*, 1(1), 51-67. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40894-015-0012-x
- Gastic, B. (2011). Metal detectors and feeling safe at school. *Education and Urban Society*, 43, 486–498. https://doi.org/10.1177/0013124510380717
- Gee, N. R., Griffin, J. A., & McCardle, P. (2017). Human–animal interaction research in school settings: Current knowledge and future directions. AERA Open. doi:10.1177/2332858417724346.
- Giraldo-García, R. J., Voight, A., & O'Malley, M. (2021). Mandatory voice: Implementation of a district-led student-voice program in urban high schools. *Psychology in the Schools*, 58(1), 51-68. https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/epdf/10.1002/pits.22436
- Gonzalez, J. M. R., Jetelina, K. K., & Jennings, W. G. (2016). Structural school safety measures, SROs, and school-related delinquent behavior and perceptions of safety: A state-of-the-art review. *Policing: An International Journal*, *39*(3), 438-454. https://doi.org/10.1108/PIJPSM-05-2016-0065.
- Gottfredson, D. C. (2001). Schools and delinquency. Cambridge University Press.
- Gottfredson, D. C., Wilson, D. B., & Najaka, S. S. (2002). School-based crime prevention.

- Sherman, L. W., Farrington, D. P. et al., (Eds.) *Evidence-based crime prevention*, pp. 56-164.
- Gottfredson, G. D., Gottfredson, D. C., Payne, A. A., & Gottfredson, N. (2005). School climate predictors of school disorder: Results from a national study of delinquency prevention in schools. *Journal of Research in Crime and Delinquency*, 42, 412–444. https://doi.org/10.1177/0022427804271931
- Gregory, A., Clawson, K., Davis, A., & Gerewitz, J. (2016a). The promise of restorative practices to transform teacher-student relationships and achieve equity in school discipline. *Journal of Educational and Psychological Consultation*, 26(4), 325–353. https://doi.org/10.2307/3053169
- Gregory, A. & Evans, K. R. (2020). *The starts and stumbles of restorative justice in education:*Where do we go from here? Boulder, CO: National Education Policy Center.

 http://nepc.colorado.edu/publication/restorative-justice.
- Gregory, A., Skiba, R.J., Nogura, P.A. (2010). The achievement gap and the discipline gap: Two sides of the same coin? *Educational Researcher*, *39*(1), 59-68. doi:10.3102/0013189X09357621
- Gregory, A., Soffer, R., Gaines, E., Hurley, A., & Karikehalli, N. (2016). *Implementing*restorative justice in schools: Lessons learned from restorative justice practitioners in four Brooklyn schools. Brooklyn Community Foundation.
- Gresham, F. S. (1991). Conceptualizing behavior disorders in terms of resistance to intervention. *School Psychology Review*, 20(1), 23-36. https://doi.org/10.1080/02796015.1991.12085530
- Grossman, D. (1997). The effectiveness of a violence prevention curriculum among children in

- elementary school. *Journal of the American Medical Association*, 277(20), 1605-1611. doi:10.1001/jama.1997.03540440039030
- Gutmann, A., & Ben-Porath, S. (2014). Democratic education. *The encyclopedia of political thought*, 863-875.
- Hahn, R., Fuqua-Whitley, D., Wethington, H., Lowy, J., Liberman, A., Crosby, A., et al. (2007). The effectiveness of universal school-based programs for the prevention of violent and aggressive behavior: a report on recommendations of the Task Force on Community Preventive Services. Center for Disease Control Morbidity and MortalityWeekly Report, 56(RR-7), 1–12.
- Harcourt, B. E. (2009). *Illusion of order: The false promise of broken windows policing*. Harvard University Press.
- Harris, I. (2008). History of peace education. In Monisha Bajaj, (ed.), *Encyclopedia of peace education*, (pp. 15-24). Information Age.
- Hatten, M. (2018, September 6). How new innovations can make schools safer. *Forbes*.

 https://www.forbes.com/sites/forbestechcouncil/2018/09/06/how-new-innovations-can-make-schools-safer/?sh=e5f7aeb736b3.
- Heitzeg, N. A. (2009). Education or incarceration: Zero tolerance policies and the school to prison pipeline. The Forum on Public Policy.

 https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ870076.pdf
- Heitzeg, N. (2014). Criminalizing education: Zero tolerance policies, police in the hallways, and the school to prison pipeline. *Counterpoints*, 453, 11-36.

 https://www.hamline.edu/uploadedFiles/Hamline_WWW/HSE/Documents/criminalizing-education-zero-tolerance-police.pdf

- Heers, M., van Klaveren, C., Groot, W., & Maassen van den Brink, H. (2011). Community schools unfolded: a review of the literature. In TIER working paper series, 12(4), 1-36.
- Henning, K. (2021). The Rage of Innocence: How America Criminalizes Black Youth.

 Pantheon Books.
- Herrenkohl, T., Hong, S., & Verbrugge, B. (2019). Trauma-informed programs based in schools: Linking concepts to practices and assessing the evidence. *American Journal of Community Psychology*, 64(3-4), 373–388. https://doi.org/10.1002/ajcp.12362
- Higgins, S., & Katsipataki, M. (2015). Evidence from meta-analysis about parental involvement in education which supports their children's learning. *Journal of Children's Services*, 10(3), 280-290. https://doi.org/10.1108/JCS-02-2015-0009
- Hill, N. E., & Tyson, D. F. (2009). Parental involvement in middle school: A meta-analytic assessment of the strategies that promote achievement. *Developmental Psychology*, 45(3), 740-763. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0015362
- Hirschfield, P. J. (2008). Preparing for prison? The criminalization of school discipline in the USA. *Theoretical Criminology*, *12*(1), 79-101. https://doi.org/10.1177/1362480607085795
- Hollweck, T., Reimer, K., & Bouchard, K. (2019). A missing piece: Embedding restorative justice and relational pedagogy into the teacher education classroom. *The New Educator*, 15(3), 246-267. https://doi.org/10.1080/1547688X.2019.1626678
- Hong, J. S. (2009). Feasibility of the Olweus Bullying Prevention Program in low-income schools. *Journal of School Violence*, 8, 81–97.
 https://doi.org/10.1080/15388220802067953
- Hood, A. (2020). A candid discussion about social justice: Iris Roley, the Black United Front,

- and the history of Cincinnati's Collaborative Agreement. *Freedom Center Journal*, 1(9). https://scholarship.law.uc.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1008&context=fci
- Hopkins, B. (2015). From Restorative Justice to Restorative Culture. Social Work

 Review/Revista De Asistenta Sociala, 14(4), 19-34.

 https://www.iirp.edu/images/pdf/DOPHTU_From_Restorative_Justice_to_Restorative_Culture.pdf
- Horner, R. H., Sugai, G., & Anderson, C. M. (2010). Examining the evidence base for schoolwide positive behavior support. *Focus on Exceptional Children*, 42(8), 1–15. http://dropoutprevention.org/wp-content/uploads/2015/05/horner_sugai_anderson_2010_evidence.pdf
- Howlett, C. F. (2008). American School Peace League and the first peace studies curriculum. *Encyclopedia of Peace Education*. Columbia University Teacher College.
- Hull, B. (2011). Changing realities in school safety and preparedness. *Journal of Business Continuity & Emergency Planning*, 5(1), 440-451. PMID: 21482512.
- Ibrahim, A., & El Zaatari, W. (2020). The teacher–student relationship and adolescents' sense of school belonging. *International Journal of Adolescence and Youth*, 25(1), 382-395. https://doi.org/10.1080/02673843.2019.1660998
- Ishimaru, A. M. (2019). Just schools: Building equitable collaborations with families and communities. Teachers College Press.
- James, N., & McCallion, G. (2013). School resource officers: law enforcement officers in schools. *Congressional Research Service*.
- Javdani, S. (2019). Policing education: An empirical review of the challenges and impact of the

- work of school police officers. *American Journal of Community Psychology*, 63(3-4), 253-269. https://doi.org/10.1002/ajcp.12306
- Jean-Pierre, J., & Parris, S. (2018). Alternative school discipline principles and interventions: An overview of the literature. McGill Journal of Education/Revue des sciences de l'éducation de McGill, 53(3). https://mje.mcgill.ca/article/view/9547/7381
- Johnson, S. L. (2009). Improving the school environment to reduce school violence: A review of the literature. *Journal of School Health*, 79, 451-465. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1746-1561.2009.00435.x
- Johnson, S. L., Bottiani, J., Waasdorp, T. E., & Bradshaw, C. P. (2018). Surveillance or safekeeping? How school security officer and camera presence influences students' perceptions of safety, equity, and support. *Journal of Adolescent Health* (Online First). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jadohealth.2018.06.008.
- Johnson, R.T. & Johnson, D.W. (1994). An overview of cooperative learning. In J. Thousand, A. Villa and A. Nevin (Eds), *Creativity and collaborative learning*. Brookes Press.
- Johnson, D. W., & Johnson, R. T. (2001, April). Teaching Students To Be Peacemakers: A Meta-Analysis [Paper presentation]. Annual Meeting of the American Educational Research Association, 2001, Seattle, WA. https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED460178.pdf.
- Jones, E. P., Margolius, M., Rollock, M., Tang Yan, C., Cole, M. L. & Zaff, J. F. (2018a).

 Disciplined and disconnected: How students experience exclusionary discipline in

 Minnesota and the promise of non-exclusionary alternatives. (ED586336). ERIC.

 https://eric.ed.gov/?q=source%3A%22America%27s+Promise+Alliance%22&id=ED586336

 336
- Jones, G. (2018). Teacher Hakim Jones leads a circle at Murray Hill Middle School in North

- Laurel, Maryland [Image]. Cult of Pedagogy.

 https://www.cultofpedagogy.com/restorative-justice-overview/
- Jones, W., Berg, J., & Osher, D. (2018b). Trauma and Learning Policy Initiative (TLPI): Trauma-Sensitive Schools-Descriptive Study Final Report. American Institutes for Research.
- Kalis, J. (2019). Implementation level and the perceived effectiveness of the Olweus bullying prevention program (Doctoral dissertation).

 https://etd.ohiolink.edu/apexprod/rws_etd/send_file/send?accession=ysu155931727842743
 &disposition=inline
- Kann, L., O'Malley Olsen, E., McManus, T., Harris, W. A., Shanklin, S. L., Flint, K. H., et al. (2016, August 12). Sexual identity, sex of sexual contacts, and health-related behaviors among students in grades 9–12—United States and selected sites, 2015. *Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report, Surveillance Summaries*, 65(9), 1–202.
 https://www.cdc.gov/mmwr/volumes/65/ss/pdfs/ss6509.pdf
- Kao, G., Vaquera, E., & Goyette, K. (2013). Education and immigration. Policy Press.
- Katic, B., Alba, L. A., & Johnson, A. H. (2020). A systematic evaluation of restorative justice practices: School violence prevention and response. *Journal of School Violence*, *19*(4), 579–593. https://doi.org/10.1080/15388220.2020.1783670
- Karp, D. R., & Breslin, B. (2001). Restorative justice in school communities. *Youth & Society*, 33(2), 249–272. https://doi.org/10.1177/0044118X01033002006
- Kautz, T., Feeney, K., Chiang, H., Lauffer, S., Bartlett, M. & Tilley, C. (2021). *Using a survey of social and emotional learning and school climate to inform decisionmaking*. Institute of

- Education Sciences, Regional Educational Laboratory Program.

 https://ies.ed.gov/ncee/edlabs/regions/midatlantic/pdf/REL_2021114.pdf
- Kayama, M., Haight, W., Gibson, P. A., & Wilson, R. (2015). Use of criminal justice language in personal narratives of out-of-school suspensions: Black students, caregivers, and educators. *Children and Youth Services Review*, 51, 26-35.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.childyouth.2015.01.020
- Kosciw, J. G., Greytak, E. A., Palmer, N. A., & Boesen, M. J. (2014). *The 2013 national school climate survey*. www.glsen.org/research.
- Kozol, J. (2006). The shame of the nation: The restoration of apartheid schooling in America.

 Three Rivers Press.
- Kozol, J. (2012). Savage inequalities: Children in America's schools (Reprint ed.). Broadway Books.
- Kreidler, W. J. (1984). Creative conflict resolution: More than 200 activities for keeping peace in the classroom K-6. Good Year Books.
- Krein, M. (2021, February 18). Is mindfulness the missing piece in education? *Mary Lou Fulton Teachers College News and People*. Arizona State University.

 https://education.asu.edu/news/mindfulness-missing-piece-education.
- Kupchik, A. (2016). *The real school safety problem: Policing and punishment in American schools*. University of California Press.
- Kupchik, A. (2020, August). *Research on the impact of school policing*. ACLU Pennsylvania.

 https://fisafoundation.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/08/Research-on-School-Policing-by-Aaron-Kupchik-July-2020.pdf
- Kutsyuruba, B., Klinger, D. A., & Hussain, A. (2015). Relationships among school climate,

- school safety, and student achievement and well-being: a review of the literature. *Review of Education*, 3(2), 103-135. https://doi.org/10.1002/rev3.3043
- Lane-Garon, P. S., Ybarra-Merlo, M., Zajac, J. D., & Vierra, T. (2005). Mediators and mentors: partners in conflict resolution and peace education. *Journal of Peace Education*, 2(2), 183-193. https://doi.org/10.1080/17400200500173592
- LaRusso, M., & Selman, R. (2011). Early adolescent health risk behaviors, conflict resolution strategies, and school climate. *Journal of Applied Developmental Psychology*, *32*(6), 354-362. https://isiarticles.com/bundles/Article/pre/pdf/59564.pdf
- LeBlanc, P., & Skaruppa, C. (1997). Support for democratic schooling: Classroom level change via cooperative learning. *Action in Teacher Education*, *19*(1), 28-38. https://doi.org/10.1080/01626620.1997.10462851
- Lee, A., & Gage, N. A. (2020). Updating and expanding systematic reviews and meta-analyses on the effects of school-wide positive behavior interventions and supports. *Psychology in the Schools*, 57, 783–804. https://doi.org/10.1002/pits.22336
- Leticia, V. S. (2020). School resource officers and Black Lives Matter protests: It's time for school social work to take a stand. *Children & Schools*, 42(4), 203–207. https://doi.org/10.1093/cs/cdaa025
- Lewis, T. J., & Sugai, G. (1999). Effective behavior support: A systems approach to proactive school-wide management. *Focus on Exceptional Children*, *31*(6), 1-24. https://doi.org/10.17161/foec.v31i6.6767
- Listenbee, R. L., Torre, J., Boyle, G., Cooper, S. W., Deer, S., Durfee, D. T., James, T.,

 Lieberman, A., Macy, R., Marans, S., McDonnell, J., Mendoza, G., & Taguba, A. (2012).

 Report of the Attorney General's National Task Force on Children Exposed to Violence.

- Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Justice.

 https://www.justice.gov/defendingchildhood/cev-rpt-full.pdf
- Lombardo, R., & Lough, T. (2007). Community policing: Broken windows, community building, and satisfaction with the police. *Police Journal*, 80(2), 117-140. http://dx.doi.org/10.1350/pojo.2007.80.2.117
- Long, C. (2016, August 25). Restorative Discipline Makes Huge Impact in Texas Elementary and Middle Schools. NEA Today. https://www.nea.org/advocating-for-change/new-from-nea/restorative-discipline-makes-huge-impact-texas-elementary-and
- LoSardo, A. (2020). Faceoff: The fight for privacy in American public schools in the wake of facial recognition technology. *Seton Hall Legislative Journal*, 44(2), 373. https://scholarship.shu.edu/shlj/vol44/iss2/6.
- Losen, D. J., & Gillespie, J. (2012). *Opportunities suspended: The disparate impact of disciplinary exclusion from school.* Civil Rights Project, University of California. https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED534184.pdf.
- Loukas, A. (2007). What is school climate? *Leadership Compass*, 5(1), 1-3.

 http://www.naesp.org/sites/default/files/resources/2/Leadership_Compass/2007/LC2007v
 5n1a4.pdf
- Lubell, E. (2011). Building community schools: A guide for action. Children's Aid Society.
- Luiz da Silva, J., Abadio de Oliveira, W., Carvalho Malta de Mello, F., Sá de Andrade, L.,

 Bazon, M. R., Angélica, M., & Silva, I. (2017). Anti-bullying interventions in schools: A systematic literature review. *Ciência & Saúde Coletiva*, 22(7), 2329–2340.

 https://doi.org/10.1590/1413-81232017227.16242015
- Ma, A. (2018, May 8). Anxiety over shootings bolsters \$2.7 billion school security industry.

- *Marketplace*. https://www.marketplace.org/2018/05/08/education/anxiety-over-shootings-bolsters-27-billion-school-security-industry/.
- Ma, X., Shen, J., Krenn, H. Y., Hu, S., & Yuan, J. (2016). A meta-analysis of the relationship between learning outcomes and parental involvement during early childhood education and early elementary education. *Educational Psychology Review*, 28(4), 771-801. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10648-015-9351-1
- Mager, U., & Nowak, P. (2012). Effects of student participation in decision making at school. A systematic review and synthesis of empirical research. *Educational Research Review*, 7(1), 38–61. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.edurev.2011.11.001
- Mahoney, J. (2000). School extracurricular activity participation as a moderator in the development of antisocial patterns. *Child Development*, 71, 502-516. https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-8624.00160
- Maier, A., Daniel, J., Oakes, J., & Lam, L. (2017). Community Schools as an Effective School Improvement Strategy: A Review of the Evidence. Learning Policy Institute.

 https://learningpolicyinstitute.org/sites/default/files/product-files/Community_Schools_Effective_REPORT.pdf.
- Marchbanks, M. P. T., Peguero, A. A, Varela, K. S., Blake, J. J., & Eason, J. M. (2018). School strictness and disproportionate minority contact: Investigating racial and ethnic disparities with the "school-to-prison pipeline." *Youth Violence and Juvenile Justice*, *16*(2), 241-259. https://doi.org/10.1177/1541204016680403
- Marx, R. A., & Kettrey, H. H. (2016). Gay-straight alliances are associated with lower levels of

- school-based victimization of LGBTQ+ youth: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence*, 45(7), 1269-1282. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10964-016-0501-7
- Massey, O. T., Armstrong, K., Boroughs, M., Henson, K., & McCash, L. (2005). Mental health services in schools: A qualitative analysis of challenges to implementation, operation, and sustainability. *Psychology in the Schools*, 42(4), 361-372.

 https://doi.org/10.1002/pits.20063
- Maynard, B., Farina, A., Dell, N., & Kelly, M. (2019). Effects of trauma-informed approaches in schools: A systematic review. *Campbell Systematic Review*, 15(1-2). https://doi.org/10.1002/cl2.1018
- McCluskey, G., Lloyd, G., Kane, J., Riddell, S., Stead, J., & Weedon, E. (2008). Can restorative practices in schools make a difference? Educational Review, 60(4), 405–17. https://doi.org/10.1080/00131910802393456
- McInerney, M., & McKlindon, A. (2014). Unlocking the door to learning: Trauma-informed classrooms & transformational schools. *Education Law Center*, 1-24. https://www.elc-pa.org/wp-content/uploads/2015/06/Trauma-Informed-in-Schools-Classrooms-FINAL-December2014-2.pdf
- Mears, D. P., Montes, A. N., Collier, N. L., Siennick, S. E., Pesta, G. B., Brown, S. J., & Blomberg, T. G. (2019). The benefits, risks, and challenges of get-tough and support-oriented approaches to improving school safety. *Criminal Justice Policy Review*, *30*(9), 1342–1367. https://doi.org/10.1177/0887403418786553
- Meggie, M., Edwards, S.E. & Gwozdz, K. (2001). Conflict resolution. A blueprint for preventing school violence. The Solomon Press.

- Mitchell, C. (2020, February 18). The Nation's English Language Learner Population has Surged: 3 Things to Know. Education Week.
- Mowen, T. J. (2015). Parental involvement in schools and the role of school security measures. *Education and Urban Society*, 47(7), 830–848.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/0013124513508581
- Mowen, T. J., & Freng, A. (2019). Is more necessarily better? School security and perceptions of safety among students and parents in the United States. *American Journal of Criminal Justice*, 44(3), 376-394. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12103-018-9461-7
- Mowen, T. J., & Manierre, M. (2017). School security measures and extracurricular participation: An exploratory multi-level analysis. *British Journal of Sociology of Education*, 38(3), 344–363. https://doi.org/10.1080/01425692.2015.1081091
- Moyano, N. & del Mar Sánchez-Fuentes, M. (2020). Homophobic bullying at schools: A systematic review of research, prevalence, school-related predictors and consequences, *Aggression and Violent Behavior*, 53. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.avb.2020.101441.
- Musu-Gillette, L., Zhang, A., Wang, K., Zhang, J., Kemp, J., Diliberti, M., & Oudekerk, B.
 (2018). *Indicators of school crime and safety: 2017*. US Department of Justice, Bureau of Justice Statistics and US Department of Education, National Center for Education
 Statistics. https://nces.ed.gov/pubs2018/2018036.pdf.
- National Association for the Advancement of Colored People (NAACP). (2018). *Dismantling the school to prison pipe-line*. NAACP Legal Defense and Educational Fund, Inc. https://www.naacpldf.org/wp-content/uploads/Dismantling_the_School_to_Prison_Pipeline__Criminal-Justice__.pdfNa, C. & Gottfredson, D. C. (2013). Police officers in schools: Effects on

- school crime and the processing of offending behaviors. *Justice Quarterly*, 30(4), 619–650. https://dx.doi.org/10.1080/07418825.2011.615754
- Norton, M. H., Gold, E., & Peralta, P. D. R. (2013). Youth courts and their educational value:

 An examination of youth courts in Chester, Pennsylvania. Research for Action.
- Novak, A. (2019). The school-to-prison pipeline: An examination of the association between suspension and justice system involvement. *Criminal Justice and Behavior*, 46(8), 1165–1180. https://doi.org/10.1177/0093854819846917
- O'Brien, D. T., Farrell, C. & Welsh, B. C. (2019, May). Broken (windows) theory: A meta-analysis of the evidence for the pathways from neighborhood disorder to resident health outcomes and behaviors. *Social Science & Medicine*, 228, 272-292. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2018.11.015
- Oakes, J., Maier, A., & Daniel, J. (2017). Community schools: An evidence-based strategy for equitable school improvement. National Education Policy Center.
- Office of Community Oriented Policing Services. (2015). The President's Task Force on 21st

 Century Policing implementation guide: Moving from recommendations to action.

 https://cops.usdoj.gov/RIC/Publications/cops-p341-pub.pdf
- Olweus, D. (1991). Bully/victim problems among school children: Basic facts and effects of a school based intervention program. *The Development and Treatment of Childhood Aggression*, 17(17), 411-448.
- Olweus, D., & Limber, S. P. (1999). Bullying prevention program. In D. S. Elliot (Ed.), Blueprints for violence prevention. C&M Press.
- Olweus, D., & Limber, S. P. (2010). Bullying in school: Evaluation and dissemination of the

- Olweus Bullying Prevention Program. *American Journal of Orthopsychiatry*, 80(1), 124–134. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1939-0025.2010.01015.x
- Olweus, D., Limber, S. P., & Breivik, K. (2019). Addressing specific forms of bullying: A large-scale evaluation of the Olweus Bullying Prevention Program. *International Journal of Bullying Prevention*, 1(1), 70-84. https://doi.org/10.1007/s42380-019-00009-7
- Osberg, J., Pope, D., & Galloway, M. (2006). Students matter in school reform: Leaving fingerprints and becoming leaders. *International Journal of Leadership in Education*, 9(4), 329-343. https://doi.org/10.1080/13603120600895338
- Osher, D., & Berg, J. (2018). School climate and social and emotional learning. www.rwjf.org/socialemotionallearning.
- Osler, A. (2002). Citizenship education and the strengthening of democracy: Is race on the agenda? In D. Scott and H. Lawson (Eds.) *Citizenship, education and the curriculum*, (pp. 63–80). Greenwood.
- Osler, A., & Starkey, H. (2005). Changing citizenship. McGraw-Hill Education.
- Paolini, A. (2015). School shootings and student mental health: Role of the school counselor in mitigating violence (Article 90). VISTAS Online. https://www.counseling.org/docs/default-source/vistas/school-shootings-and-student-mental-health.p
- Partner Alliance for Safer Schools. (2020). *Safety and security guidelines for K-12 schools*. https://passk12.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/10/PASS-Safety-Security-Guidelines-2020-FINAL-1.pdf.
- Patall, E. A., Cooper, H., & Robinson, J. C. (2008). The effects of choice on intrinsic motivation and related outcomes: A meta-analysis of research findings. *Psychological Bulletin*, 134(2), 270–300. doi: 10.1037/0033-2909.134.2.270. PMID: 18298272

- Patchin, J. W., & Hinduja, S. (2018). Deterring teen bullying: Assessing the impact of perceived punishment from police, schools, and parents. *Youth Violence and Juvenile Justice*, *16*(2), 190-207. https://doi.org/10.1177/1541204016681057
- Payne, A. A. (2008). A multilevel analysis of the relationships among communal school organization, student bonding, and delinquency. *Journal of Research in Crime and Delinquency*, 45(4), 429–455. https://doi.org/10.1177/0022427808322621
- Payne, A. A., Gottfredson, D. C., & Gottfredson, G. D. (2003). Schools as communities: The relationships among communal school disorder, student bonding, and school disorder.
 Criminology, 41, 749–778. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1745-9125.2003.tb01003.x
- Payne, A. A., & Welch, K. (2015). Restorative justice in schools: The influence of race on restorative discipline. *Youth & Society*, 47(4) 539 –564. https://doi.org/10.1177/0044118X12473125
- Payne, A. A., & Welch, K. (2018). The effect of school conditions on the use of restorative justice in schools. *Youth violence and juvenile justice*, *16*(2), 224-240. https://doi.org/10.1177/1541204016681414
- Peguero, A. A. (2012). Schools, bullying, and inequality: Intersecting factors and complexities with the stratification of youth victimization at school. *Sociology Compass*, *6*(5), 402-412. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1751-9020.2012.00459.x
- Peguero, A. A., & Bondy, J. M. (2020). The importance of immigration with future research about school safety. *Race and Justice*, 10(3), 247–268.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/2153368717738039
- Pentek, C., & Eisenberg, M. (2018). School resource officers, safety, and discipline: Perceptions

and experiences across racial/ethnic groups in Minnesota secondary schools. *Children and Youth Services Review*, 88, 141-148.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.childyouth.2018.03.008

- Perfect, M. M., Turley, M. R., Carlson, J. S., Yohanna, J., & Saint Gilles, M. P. (2016). School-related outcomes of traumatic event exposure and traumatic stress symptoms in students:

 A systematic review of research from 1990 to 2015. *School Mental Health*, 8(1), 7-43.

 https://doi.org/10.1007/s12310-016-9175-2
- Perumean-Chaney, S. E., & Sutton, L. M. (2013). Students and perceived school safety: The impact of school security measures. *American Journal of Criminal Justice*, *38*(4), 570–588. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12103-012-9182-2
- Peterson, R. L., & Skiba, R. (2001). Creating school climates that prevent school violence. *The Clearing House*, 74(3), 155–163. https://www.jstor.org/stable/30190049
- Planty, M., Banks, D., Lindquist, C., Cartwright, J., & Witwer, A. (2020). *Tip lines for schoolsafety: A national portrait of tip line use*. RTI International. https://www.rti.org/publication/tip-lines-school-safety/fulltext.pdf
- Powell, K. E., Muir-McClain, L., & Halasyamani, L. (1995). A review of selected school-based conflict resolution and peer mediation projects. *Journal of School Health*, 65(10), 426-431. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1746-1561.1995.tb08207.x
- Pranis, K. (2007). *Restorative values*. In G. Johnstone & D. Van Ness (Eds.), Handbook of restorative justice (pp. 59-74). Willan Publishing.
- Prevention Institute. (2001). <u>Preventing and reducing school violence fact sheet #3: Strategies,</u>

 <u>resources, and contacts for developing comprehensive school violence prevention programs.</u>
- Purtle, J. (2020). Systematic review of evaluations of trauma-informed organizational

- interventions that include staff trainings. *Trauma, Violence, & Abuse, 21*(4), 725–740. https://doi.org/10.1177/1524838018791304
- Quinney, R. (1989, Winter). The theory and practice of peacemaking in the development of radical criminology. *The Critical Criminologist* 1(5).
- Raffaele Mendez, L. M., Knoff, H. M., & Ferron, J. M. (2002). School demographic variables and out-of-school suspension rates: A quantitative and qualitative analysis of a large, ethnically diverse school district. *Psychology in the Schools*, *39*(3), 259–277. https://doi.org/10.1002/pits.10020
- Rahey, L., & Craig, W. (2002). Evaluation of an ecological program to reduce bullying in schools. *Canadian Journal of Counselling and Psychotherapy*, *36*(4). https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ657148.pdf
- Ravitch, D. (2010). The death and life of the great American school system: How testing and choice are undermining education. Basic Books.
- Rich, L., Mader, N., & Pacheco-Applegate, A. (2017, November). Restorative justice programming and student behavioral and disciplinary outcomes. Chapin Hall at the University of Chicago.
- Richardson, R., & Miles, B. (2003). *Equality stories: Recognition, respect, and raising achievement*. Trentham Books.
- Richardson, R., & Wood, A. (Eds.). (1999). *Inclusive schools, inclusive society: Race and identity on the agenda*. Trentham Books.
- Robers, S., Kemp, J., Rathbun, A., & Morgan, R. E. (2014). *Indicators of School Crime and Safety: 2013* (NCES 2014-042/NCJ 243299). National Center for Education Statistics, U.S. Department of Education, and Bureau of Justice Statistics, Office of Justice

- Programs, U.S. Department of Justice.
- Rudduck, J., & Flutter, J. (2000). Pupil participation and pupil perspective: 'Carving a new order of experience'. *Cambridge Journal of Education*, 30(1), 75-89.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/03057640050005780
- Rudo, Z., & Dimock, V. (2017). *How family, school, and community engagement can improve*student achievement and influence school reform. American Institutes for Research.

 https://cursoslared.com/recursoslibre/Final-Report-Family-Engagement-AIR.pdf
- Sadofsky, M. (2000). A bird's eye view of Sudbury Valley (Dr. Daria Brezinksy, Interviewer). [Transcript]. http://www.sudval.com/01_abou_09.html.
- Sadowski, M. (2017). More than a safe space: How schools can enable LGBTQ students to thrive. *American Educator*, 40(4), 4-9, 42. https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ1123878.pdf
- Salole, A. T., & Abdulle, Z. (2015). Quick to punish: An examination of the school to prison pipeline for marginalized youth. *Canadian Review of Social Policy/ Revue canadienne de politique sociale*, 72/73, 124-168.
 - https://crsp.journals.yorku.ca/index.php/crsp/article/view/38162
- Sanchez, A. L., Cornacchio, D., Poznanski, B., Golik, A. M., Chou, T., & Comer, J. S. (2018).

 The effectiveness of school-based mental health services for elementary-aged children: A meta-analysis. *Journal of the American Academy of Child & Adolescent Psychiatry*, 57(3), 153-165. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaac.2017.11.022
- Sanchez, T. (2003). High-tech crisis plans: Tools for school safety. *Police Chief*, 70(4), 18-23.
- Sapthiang, S., Van Gordon, W., & Shonin, E. (2019). Mindfulness in schools: a health promotion approach to improving adolescent mental health. *International Journal of Mental Health and Addiction*, 17(1), 112-119. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11469-018-0001-y

- Schellenberg, R. C., Parks-Savage, A., & Rehfuss, M. (2007). Reducing levels of elementary school violence with peer mediation. *Professional School Counseling*, 10(5). https://doi.org/10.1177/2156759X0701000504
- Schildkraut, J., & Grogan, K. (2019). Are metal detectors effective at making schools safer? (ED595716). ERIC. https://eric.ed.gov/?id=ED595716
- Schwartz, H., Ramchand, R., Barnes-Proby, D., Grant, S., Jackson, B., & Leuschner, K., Saunders, J. (2016). *Using innovative technology to enhance school safety in practice. In the role of technology in improving K-12 school safety*, (pp. 35-54). RAND Corporation. http://www.jstor.org/stable/10.7249/j.ctt1btc150.11
- Shaw, M. (2004). Comprehensive approaches to school safety and security: An international view. In OECD, School safety and security. Lessons in danger (pp. 91-107).
 OECD. https://www.oecd.org/education/innovation-education/34739136.pdf
- Shedd, C. (2016). *Unequal city: Race, schools, and perceptions of injustice*. Russell Sage Foundation.
- Shelton, J., Kroehle, K., & Andia, M. M. (2019). The trans person is not the problem: Brave spaces and structural competence as educative tools for trans justice in social work.

 Journal of Sociology and Social Welfare, 46(4), 97–123.

 https://scholarworks.wmich.edu/jssw/vol46/iss4/7
- Simon, B. S. (2001). Family involvement in high school: Predictors and effects. *NASSP Bulletin*, 85(627), 8–19. https://doi.org/10.1177/019263650108562702
- Simmons, L. (2009). End of the Line: Tracing Racial Inequality from School to Prison.

 *Race/Ethnicity: Multidisciplinary Global Contexts, 2(2), 215-241.

 http://www.jstor.org/stable/25595013
- Skiba, R. J. (2000). Zero tolerance, zero evidence: An analysis of school disciplinary practices.

- Policy Research Report (ED469537). ERIC. https://eric.ed.gov/?id=ED469537
- Skiba, R. J. (2010). Zero tolerance and alternative discipline strategies. *National Association of School Psychologists Communique*, 39(1), 28-30.
- Skiba, R. J. (2014). The failure of zero tolerance. *Reclaiming Children and Youth*, 22(4), 27. https://reclaimingjournal.com/sites/default/files/journal-article-pdfs/22_4_Skiba.pdf
- Skiba, R. J., Michael, R. S., & Nardo, A. C. (2002). The color of discipline: Sources of racial and gender disproportionality in school punishment. *The Urban Review*, *34*, 317–342. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1021320817372
- Skiba, R. J., & Peterson, R. (1999). The dark side of zero tolerance: Can punishment lead to safe schools? *Phi Delta Kappan*, 80(5), 372–382. https://www.jstor.org/stable/20439450
- Skiba, R. J., & Rausch, M. K. (2006). Zero tolerance, suspension, and expulsion: Questions of equity and effectiveness. In C. M. Evertson & C. S. Weinstein (Eds.), *Handbook of classroom management: Research, practice, and contemporary issues* (pp. 1063–1089). Erlbaum.
- Skiba, R. J., Ritter, S., Simmons, A., Peterson, R., & Miller, C. (2006). The Safe and Responsive Schools Project: A school reform model for implementing best practices in violence prevention. In S. R. Jimerson & M. J. Furlong (Eds.), *Handbook of school violence and school safety: From research to practice* (pp. 631–650). Routledge.
- Slavin, R. (1990). Cooperative learning: Theory, research and practice. Prentice Hall.
- Slavin, R. E. (1995). *Cooperative learning: Theory, research and practice* (2nd edition). Allyn and Bacon.
- Sloan-Oberdier, S. M. (2018). Working alongside a therapy dog: A phenomenological study of

- school counselors' experiences. (Doctoral dissertation, Kent State University),

 https://etd.ohiolink.edu/apexprod/rws_etd/send_file/send?accession=kent1522189555811

 29&disposition=inline
- Smith, S. W., Daunic, A. P., Miller, M. D., & Robinson, T. R. (2002). Conflict resolution and peer mediation in middle schools: Extending the process and outcome knowledge base.

 The Journal of Social Psychology, 142(5), 567-586.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/00224540209603919
- Smokowski, P. R., Evans, C. B. R., Rose, R., & Bacallao, M. (2020). A group randomized trial of School-Based Teen Courts to address the school to prison pipeline, reduce aggression and violence, and enhance school safety in middle and high school students. *Journal of School Violence*, 19(4), 566–578. https://doi.org/10.1080/15388220.2020.1780133
- Sprague, J., Nishioka, V., & Smith, S. G. (2007). Safe schools, Positive Behavior Supports, and mental health supports. *Journal of School Violence*, 6(2), 93–115. https://doi.org/10.1300/J202v06n02_06
- Strelan, P., Feather, N. T., & McKee, I. (2011). Retributive and inclusive justice goals and forgiveness: The influence of motivational values. *Social Justice Research*, 24(2), 126-142. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11211-011-0132-9
- Sugai, G., & Horner, R. H. (1999). Discipline and behavioral support: Practices, pitfalls, & promises. *Effective School Practices*, *17*(4), 10-22.
- Sugai, G., Horner, R. H., Dunlap, G. Hieneman, M., Lewis, T. J., Nelson, C. M., et al. (2000).

 Applying positive behavioral support and functional behavioral assessment in schools. *Journal of Positive Behavioral Interventions*, 2, 131-143.

 https://digitalcommons.calpoly.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1031&context=gse_fac

- Swearer, S. M., Espelage, D. L., Vaillancourt, T., & Hymel, S. (2010). What can be done about school bullying? Linking research to educational practice. *Educational Researcher*, 39(1), 38–47. https://doi.org/10.3102/0013189X09357622
- Tanner-Smith, E. R., Fisher, B. W., Addington, L. A., & Gardella, J. H. (2018). Adding security, but subtracting safety? Exploring schools' use of multiple visible security measures.

 *American Journal of Criminal Justice, 13, 102–119. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12103-017-9409-3
- Teich, J. L., Robinson, G., & Weist, M. D. (2008). What kinds of mental health services do public schools in the United States provide? *Advances in School Mental Health Promotion*, 1(1), 13-22. https://doi.org/10.1080/1754730X.2008.9715741
- The Trevor Project. (2021). Facts about suicide.
 - https://www.thetrevorproject.org/resources/preventing-suicide/facts-about-suicide/
- Theriot, M. T. (2009). School resource officers and the criminalization of student behavior.

 **Journal of Criminal Justice, 37, 280-287. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcrimjus.2009.04.008
- Theriot, M. T. (2016). The impact of school resource officer Interaction on students' feelings about school and school police. *Crime & Delinquency*, 62(4), 446–469.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/0011128713503526
- Theriot, M. T., & Orme, J. (2016). School resource officers and students' feelings of safety at school. *Youth Violence and Juvenile Justice*, *14*(2), 130-146. https://doi.org/10.1177/1541204014564472
- Thomas, M. S., Crosby, S., & Vanderhaar, J. (2019). Trauma-informed practices in schools across two decades: An interdisciplinary review of research. *Review of Research in Education*, 43(1), 422-452. https://doi.org/10.3102/0091732X18821123

- Tillyer, M., Fisher, B., & Wilcox, P. (2011). The effects of school crime prevention on students' violent victimization, risk perception, and fear of crime: A multilevel opportunity perspective. *Justice Quarterly*, 28(2), 249-277.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/07418825.2010.493526
- Timoll, A. L. (2017). The dream deferred: The school-to-prison pipeline and the destruction and potential resurrection of the Black male. CUNY Academic Works. https://academicworks.cuny.edu/gc_etds/1837.
- Trauma and Learning Policy Initiative. (n.d.). Helping traumatized children learn.

 https://traumasensitiveschools.org/trauma-and-learning/the-problem-prevalence/
- Tucker, J. W., & Vance, A. (2016). School surveillance: The consequences for equity and privacy. (ED582102). ERIC. https://eric.ed.gov/?id=ED582102
- Turk, F. (2018). Evaluation of the effects of conflict resolution, peace education and peer mediation: A meta-analysis study. *International Education Studies*, 11(1).
 DOI:10.5539/ies.v11n1p25
- Turanovic, J. J., Pratt, T. C., Kulig, T. C., & Cullen, F. T. (2019). Individual, Institutional, and Community Sources of School Violence: A Meta-Analysis. Office of Justice Programs' National Criminal Justice Reference Service.

 https://www.ojp.gov/pdffiles1/nij/grants/253934.pdf
- U.S. Census Bureau. (2014). Current population survey. U.S. Census Bureau, Population Division.
- U.S. Department of Education, National Center for Education Statistics, Common Core of Data (CCD). (2018-2019). State of nonfiscal public elementary/secondary education survey.V.1A.

- Van Ness, D. W., & Strong, K. H. (2014). Restoring justice: An introduction to restorative justice. Routledge.
- Waasdorp T. E., Bradshaw C. P., & Leaf P. J. (2012). The impact of schoolwide positive behavioral interventions and supports on bullying and peer rejection: A randomized controlled effectiveness trial. *Archives of Pediatrics & Adolescent Medicine*, 166(2):149–156. doi:10.1001/archpediatrics.2011.755
- Warnick, B. R., & Kapa, R. (2019). Protecting students from gun violence. *Education Next*, 19(2). https://www.educationnext.org/protecting-students-from-gun-violence-does-target-hardening-do-more-harm-than-good/
- Warren, J. S., Bohanon-Edmonson, H. M., Turnbull, A. P., Sailor, W., Wickham, D., Griggs, P., & Beech, S. E. (2006). School-wide positive behavior support: Addressing behavior problems that impede student learning. *Educational Psychology Review*, 18(2), 187-198. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10648-006-9008-1
- Wehby, J. H., & Kern, L. (2014). Intensive behavior intervention: What is it, what is its evidence base, and why do we need to implement now? *Teaching Exceptional Children*, 46(4), 38-44. https://doi.org/10.1177/0040059914523956
- Weisburst, E. K. (2018). POLICY BRIEF: Patrolling Public Schools: The Impact of Funding for School Police on Student Discipline and Long. Education, 1.

 https://texaserc.utexas.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/11/21-UTA034-Brief-BPCAB-11.1.18.pdf
- Weiss, H. B., Bouffard, S. M., Bridglall, B. L., & Gordon, E. W. (2009). Reframing Family
 Involvement in Education: Supporting Families to Support Educational Equity. Equity
 Matters, Research Review No. 5. Campaign for Educational Equity. Columbia University

Teachers College. https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED523994.pdf

- Weiss, J. K. (2018). Involving the stakeholders that matter most: Student voice in school reform.

 Journal of Ethical Educational Leadership, 1, 199-208.

 https://static1.squarespace.com/static/5b27fbc11137a6da730bc331/t/5bb3cc77e4966b819

 9008ddf/1538509947011/Involving+Stakeholders+that+Matter+Most+Mar+2016+final+

 with+cite+new+.pdf
- Whitney, D. G., & Peterson, M. D. (2019). US national and state-level prevalence of mental health disorders and disparities of mental health care use in children. *JAMA pediatrics*, 173(4), 389-391. doi:10.1001/jamapediatrics.2018.5399
- Xaba, M. I. (2014). A holistic approach to safety and security at schools in South Africa.
 Mediterranean Journal of Social Sciences, 5(20), 1580-1589.
 DOI:10.5901/mjss.2014.v5n20p1580
- Zenner, C., Herrnleben-Kurz, S., & Walach, H. (2014). Mindfulness-based interventions in schools—a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Frontiers in Psychology*, *5*, 603. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2014.00603
- Zents, C. E., Fisk, A. K., & Lauback, C. W. (2017). Paws for intervention: Perceptions about the use of dogs in schools. *Journal of Creativity in Mental Health*, 12(1), 82-98. https://doi.org/10.1080/15401383.2016.1189371
- Zhang, G. (2018). The effects of a school policing program on crime, discipline, and disorder: A quasi-experimental evaluation. *American Journal of Criminal Justice*, 44, 45-62. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12103-018-9440-z